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“Geberit brand products are durable, ecologically efficient
consumer goods for daily use. They contribute to the quality of
life and provide sustainable value for the trade, installers and
the end-user.”
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To our shareholders

The 1999 fiscal year is in many respects an important milestone in the
history of the Geberit Group. In its 125th year of existence the Group com-
pleted its transition from a family-owned company to a public corporation
with its listing on the stock exchange. At the same time, 1999 was the 
most successful of all business years to date. The Geberit Group has con-
tinued to grow in an impressive manner. A double-digit rate of growth in
sales was clearly outpaced by the rise in profits.

Successful exchange listing
In June 1999 Geberit’s shares were placed on the Swiss Stock Exchange
with great success. At the end of the year the share price stood 65 percent
above the initial offering price. A broad shareholder base was built up with-
in a few months. In addition, an unexpected large percentage of employees
bought shares of the company.

In the course of the public offering, the Board of Directors of the new
holding company, Geberit AG, was renewed and highly-experienced entre-
preneurs were appointed.

The profitable growth of the Geberit Group accelerated further. The enterprise
improved its market position with innovative products, concentrated mar-
keting efforts and continued internationalisation. Largely independent from
construction cycles, it added strongly to sales and earnings. In clear con-
trast to an only moderate upswing in the general economy, the Geberit
Group achieved a considerable organic growth rate. Development of small-
er markets, such as Central Europe and Eastern Europe, and of export
business were clearly more rapid than of the Western European core markets.
Furthermore, the successful acquisition and integration of Geberit Terrain
contributed considerably to the overall growth. As a result, Great Britain has
become the fourth largest market for the Geberit Group, following Germany,
Italy and Switzerland.

As a result of the exchange listing and very good business progress, the
Group’s capital structure improved substantially in the fiscal year 1999. The
equity ratio, at 19% at the end of 1998, rose to nearly 32%. Earnings before
interest and taxes (EBIT) grew by more than 25% to reach MCHF 176.4 
and net income was increased by 45% to MCHF 54.3. In view of the Group’s
favourable earnings capabilities and solid financial basis, the Board of
Directors will propose to the General Meeting of Shareholders the distribu-
tion of a dividend in the amount of CHF 8.00 per share.

New, innovative products contributed significantly to growth in sales in 1999,
as well. All product lines showed a positive organic growth, of which 
water supply systems and installation systems achieved an above-average
growth rate.

Editorial

Accelerated growth

Healthy finances

Innovative products

Kurt E. Feller (right) 
and Günter F. Kelm
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Geberit commands high-performance research and development. With the
intention of continuing to set the trends in sanitary technology in the future,
the company again invested significant funds in the development of inno-
vative products and services during 1999.

The dynamic development of the Geberit Group during the reporting year 
is also a result of constant change in all areas and at all levels, as well as of
a pronounced corporate culture.

Thanks to continuity at the highest management level, performance-oriented
and flexible organisational structures and a proven, highly motivated man-
agement team, we are confident that the Geberit Group will further expand
its market position and increase its enterprise value.

Our employees’ dedication and great competence are essential prerequi-
sites for our success. We hereby express our thanks and recognition to 
all employees for their outstanding performance. We are particularly gratified
by our employees’ strong identification with our company, which was
impressively shown by their exceptional participation in the share programs
at the time of the initial public offering. At the same time, we thank our
shareholders and customers for their proven confidence.

The strategy of the Geberit Group is targeted towards consistent expansion
of its market leadership in Europe and accelerated internationalisation. 
In implementing these strategic goals, the Geberit Group is staking on both
its intact internal growth potential and a considerable acquisitions policy.

With an annual growth rate in the magnitude of 10% we intend to achieve
sales of CHF 2 billion within 5 years while maintaining operating margins 
at their present high level. Based on our encouraging start in the first quarter
of 2000 we believe that the current fiscal year will be entirely in line with
our stated goals.

Kurt E. Feller Günter F. Kelm
Chairman of the Board President and CEO

Sustainable corporate culture

Thanks to employees,
shareholders and customers

Outlook and medium-term goals
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The share capital of Geberit AG, the holding company of the Geberit Group,
consists of MCHF 83.2 and is divided into 4.16 million registered shares 
with a par value of CHF 20 each. There are no limitations as to ownership or
voting rights.

In conjunction with its initial stock exchange listing on 22 June 1999,
Geberit AG placed 2.847 million registered shares, or 68% of its total shares,
on the Swiss market at an initial offering price of CHF 330 per share. Since
going public, Geberit shares have significantly outperformed the market
average and reached their high for the year, CHF 545, at the end of 1999.

Share price development (22 June 1999 until 23 March 2000)

Shareholders required to report holdings
Shareholders holding more than 5% of the shares are requested to report
their participation. To our knowledge the following shareholders hold more
than 5% of shares:
– Doughty Hanson & Co.> 10%
– Klaus Gebert heirs > 5%

Investor information
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Key stock figures

Share capital 83,200,000

Registered shares at CHF 20 4,160,000

Registered as of 31.12.1999 3,071,736

Price performance  

Issuance price on 22.6.1999 330

1999 low 351

1999 high 545

Closing rate at 31.12.1999 545

Key figures per share

Income 13.29

Adjusted income 32.84

Net cash flow 44.81

Shareholders’ equity 118.32

Proposed dividend 8.00

Stock exchange SWX, Zurich

Securities number 803822

Exchange symbol GEBN

CHF

Number

CHF

CHF per share

Open investor relations
At Geberit, open and frequent communication with shareholders, investors
and financial analysts have top priority. Günter F. Kelm (CEO) and Dr. Rudolf
Huber (CFO) are the main links connecting Geberit and the financial com-
munity. Geberit responds to the capital markets’ need for comprehensive
information with regular press information, financial presentations, road shows
and countless individual discussions. Our website (www.geberit.com) is
always kept current and provides all interested parties with comprehensive
and structured information.

Dates
2 May 2000 Interim Report 1st quarter 2000

18 May 2000 Annual General Meeting 
15 August 2000 Half-Year Results 2000

31 October 2000 Interim Report 3rd quarter 2000
16 January 2001 First information regarding fiscal year 2000

21 March 2001 Annual Media Conference
Analysts Conference

26 April 2001 Annual General Meeting
3 May 2001 Interim Report 1st quarter 2001

(minor changes are possible)



6

The Board of Directors and the Group Executive Board

In the course of the public offering the Board of Directors of Geberit AG

was renewed in July 1999. It consists of five members. The term of office is 
three years, and the statutary age limit has been established at 70 years.

Kurt E. Feller (62), Chairman
Swiss citizen, resident in Wollerau, CH

President and CEO of Rieter Holding AG, Winterthur, CH

Günter F. Kelm (59), President
German citizen, resident in Jona, CH

CEO of the Geberit Group, Jona, CH

Dr. Horst Heidsieck (52)
German citizen, resident in Büdingen, DE

CEO of Heraeus Holding GmbH, Hanau, DE

Patrick Smulders (35)
Citizen of the Netherlands, resident in London, UK

Partner of Doughty Hanson & Co. Ltd., London, UK

Klaus Weisshaar (61)
German citizen, resident in Frankfurt a.M., DE

Until 1998 CEO of Friedrich Grohe AG, Hemer, DE

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Zurich, CH

Our management structures are decentralised and close to the market,
ensuring that our company remains flexible and dynamic.

The members of the Group Executive Board first bear responsibility as a
corporate body for the overall performance of the Geberit Group. Second,
they manage the Group functions. Additionally, they serve as coaches for
the Group companies. As coaches, they remain close to market events while
being partner and consultant to the managers of the 36 Geberit companies. 

The managers bear the operative responsibility for the Group companies.
This encourages identification as well as entrepreneurial thinking and
behaviour.

Board of Directors

Management philosophy

Independent Accountants
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Günter F. Kelm (59)
Chief Executive since 1991, member of the Group Executive Board since 1986,
with Geberit since 1986
Group functions: Corporate Communications, Human Resources, Legal Services, 
Coach Division 1

Randolf Hanslin (58)
Member of the Group Executive Board since 1979, with Geberit since 1977
Group functions: Production and Logistics Planning, Quality Management,
Environmental Management, Coach Division 2

Paul Witschi (57)
Member of the Group Executive Board since 1989, with Geberit since 1989
Group function: Market Development, Coach Division 3

Dr. Rudolf Huber (44)
Member of the Group Executive Board since 1992, with Geberit since 1992
Group functions: Controlling, Finance, Information Technology, Internal Audit,
Corporate Development, Coach Division 5

Hans-Rudolf Völkin (47)
Member of the Group Executive Board since 1993, with Geberit since 1990
Group functions: Group Product Management, Brand Development, 
OEM, Coach Divison 4

Dr. Thomas Raible (48)
Member of the Group Executive Board since 1998, with Geberit since 1985
Group function: Group Supply Management, Coach Division 6

Geberit’s Group Executive Board (from left):

Dr. Thomas Raible, Paul Witschi (top)

Dr. Rudolf Huber, Hans-Rudolf Völkin (centre)

Günter F. Kelm, Randolf Hanslin (bottom)

Group Executive Board
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– Geberit Verwaltungs GmbH (DE)
Michael Werle

8

Management structure 
(1.1.2000)

Board of Directors

Geberit AG

Group Executive Board

Division 2 Randolf Hanslin

– Geberit Vertriebs AG (CH)
Marco Gaffuri

– Geberit Produktions AG (CH)
Willi Wiggenhauser/Werner Frei

– Geberit Marketing
e Distribuzione S.A. (CH)
Renato Fumasoli

– Deriplast S.p.a. (IT)
Enrico Casazza

– Geberit Terrain Ltd. (UK)
Jörg M. Henkel

of the Geberit Group

Division 3 Paul Witschi

– Geberit B.V. (NL)
Pieter G. van Wijk

– Geberit N.V. (BE)
Paul Forier

– Geberit S.à.r.l. (FR)
Peter Kothe

– Hansgrohe Geberit S.A.S. (FR)
Philippe Grohe/Peter Kothe

– Balena AG (CH)
Reto Vincenz

– Geberit Sp. z.o.o. (PL)
Andrzej Dobrut

– Geberit Inc. (USA)
Bruce Reidel

– Geberit A/S (DK)
Brian Andersen

– Geberit S.A. (ES)
Isidro Martinez

– Afluxo S.A. (PT)
José Seabra

– Geberit Daishan Co. Ltd. (CN)
Martin Böwe

– Geberit Shanghai Co. Ltd. (CN)
Dr. Hermann Schütte

– Geberit South East Asia Pte. Ltd. (SG)
Minhao Zheng

Coaching

Management of Group Functions

Coaching

Management of Group Functions

Coaching

Management of Group Functions

– Corporate Communications
Detlef Janssen

– Human Resources
Günter F. Kelm, a.i.

– Legal Services
Barbara Dörr

– Quality Management
Rainer Prügl

– Environmental Management
Georg Wüest

– Production and Logistics Planning
Randolf Hanslin, a.i.

– Market Development
Jörg M. Henkel

Division 1 Günter F. Kelm
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– Geberit GmbH (DE)
Harald Wipfler/Karl Spachmann/Josef Diermann

– Pretec Vertriebs GmbH (DE)
Josef Diermann

– Geberit Produktions GmbH (DE)
Holger Kirsch/Jürgen Haas

– Pretec Produktions GmbH (DE)
Thomas Schweikart

– Sanbloc GmbH (DE)
Dr. Thomas Raible, a.i.

– Gemax GmbH (DE)
Karl-Heinz Horsmann

9

Division 4 Hans-Rudolf Völkin Division 5 Dr. Rudolf Huber

– Geberit Verwaltungs AG (CH)
Roland Iff/Peter Hartmann

– Geberit Vertriebs GmbH (AU)
Dietmar Riedel

– Geberit Produktions GmbH (AU)
Ernst Thun/Ulrich Wagner

– Geberit Kft (HU)
András Denk

– Geberit spol.s.r.o. (CZ)
Jindrich Hornicek

– Geberit Slovensko spol.s.r.o. (SK)
Jan Martinak

Division 6 Dr. Thomas Raible

Coaching

Management of Group Functions

Coaching

Management of Group Functions

Coaching

Management of Group Functions

– Group Product Management 1
Heinz Rutishauser

– Group Product Management 2
Thomas Kehl

– OEM
Marco Steg

– Brand Development
Udo Pauly

– Finance
Roland Iff

– Controlling
Roman Sidler

– Internal Audit, Corporate Development
Knut Eschweiler

– Information Technology
Peter Hartmann

– Group Supply Management
Dr. Adriaan ’t Gilde

– Geberit Technik AG (CH)
René Bregenzer/René Dolder

– Büchler AG (CH)
Max Minikus

– FAE S.A. (CH)
Martin Ziegler

– Prosan GmbH (LU)
Udo Pauly

– Prosan d.o.o. (SI)
Marjan Urbancic
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In 1999 the Geberit Group succeeded in continuing its international ex-
pansion in all its fields of activity and target markets. The introduction of
new system solutions and products was much more successful than expect-
ed. Geberit gained valuable market shares thanks to its innovative sanitary
technology, solutions which are refined down to the last detail, and first-
class overall production quality. Further, the world-wide economic recovery,
which included the construction industry, led to a noticeable improvement
in the investment climate. All this led to the fact that the Group is able to
demonstrate record rates of growth for sales and earnings.

As the economic crisis in Asia subsided, the international financial markets
also showed a welcome stabilisation. An economic upswing felt in most
European countries provided for a slight decline in unemployment as well
as an optimistic mood among consumers. The construction industry in
most European markets benefited from the improved general economic
conditions, not least due to continuous low interest rates.

As in previous years, the renovation sector, an important one for Geberit,
proved to be a stabilising force, and in some countries it even served as the
construction industry’s engine for growth. Numerous major European urban
centres contain a large quantity of old buildings which no longer meet
contemporary standards of comfort and building technology. Taking the gen-
erally sound and architecturally appealing nature of these buildings into
consideration, complete renovation and modernisation is often preferred. As
a result of increasing purchasing power, comprehensive asset transfers 
and the privatisation of housing, renovation activities have already outpaced
new housing construction in many markets.

Business and financial review

Construction volume by sector in Western Europe 1997–1999 
(%-changes compared to previous year)

New Residential Construction

New non Residential Construction

Total New Construction

Renovation and Modernisation (residential)

Renovation and Modernisation (non residential)

Total Renovation and Modernisation

Total Construction volume (incl. civil engineering)

1997

0.6

0.1

0.4

1.7

0.0 

1.1

0.7

1998

–1.3

0.7

–0.4

2.1

2.4

2.2

0.8

1999

2.7

4.2

3.4

2.7

2.1 

2.5

3.0

(Source: Euroconstruct, Cambridge, January 2000)

Geberit in the general economic
environment
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For the first time in several years the new residential construction sector in
Europe experienced a significant growth in 1999. This can be attributed 
to powerful impulses in France, Spain, Poland, Ireland and the Scandinavian
countries, but also to the end of a declining trend in Germany. Non-resi-
dential construction also developed positively.

In Germany, the largest single market for the Geberit Group, all signs indicate
that the construction industry has emerged out of its trough. Construction
volume was not subject to further declines, and a further rise in permits
both for new construction and for renovation and modernisation are signs
of a continuing recovery of the market. Like in most other Western Euro-
pean countries, the renovation sector in Germany is clearly growing more
rapidly than the new construction sector.

Thanks to its consistent focus on sanitary technology systems and products,
Geberit was able to further consolidate its position as the market leader 
in the Western European sanitary market. According to internal estimates,
this market attained a size of approximately EUR 23 billion at the end of
1999, of which the share for sanitary technology products amounted to
approximately 45 percent. Thus, in Western Europe alone, Geberit is oper-
ating in a market with a total volume of more than EUR 10 billion.

Also in 1999, the Geberit Group’s sales development in all European core
markets clearly outperformed the corresponding construction indexes.
Thanks to its niche marketing policy in the USA, the Group benefited from a
continuing good climate for apartment and single family home construction.

During the reporting period the Geberit Group once again succeeded in
significantly improving its sales performance, thus clearly exceeding the
progress it made in recent years. Within the course of the year, and particu-
larly during the second half, the growth rate accelerated noticeably. For
1999 the Group reports consolidated sales of MCHF 1,190.7, which corre-
sponds to an increase of 15.4% over the preceding year (MCHF 1,032.2).
Currency-adjusted the rate even reached 16%. Excluding the acquisition 
of Caradon Terrain in the UK, the internal growth rate amounted to 8.8%
(previous year 7.9%), or 9.6% currency adjusted (previous year 9.5%).

The most important market for Geberit remained Germany, with a share in
sales of 42.5% (MCHF 506.1). It was followed by Italy, with a 14.2% share
(MCHF 169.2), Switzerland with 12.2% (MCHF 144.8), Great Britain with 5%
(MCHF 59.1), Austria with 4.9% (MCHF 58.9), the Netherlands with 4.8%
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94 95 96 97 98 99

Construction output and Geberit sales
in seven core markets  1999
(Index: 1994 = 100) 

Geberit sales in seven core markets
Total Construction volume
New Residential Construction
Renovation and Modernisation

Source: Euroconstruct, Cambridge, 
January 2000)

Germany, Italy, Switzerland, 
Austria, Netherlands, France,
Belgium

1

1

(

1

Accelerated growth rate
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Business and financial review

(MCHF 56.6), France with 3.8% (MCHF 45.5) and Belgium with 3.6% 
(MCHF 42.3). Sales generated outside these eight core markets amounted
to MCHF 108.2 or 9.0% of total Group sales.

Sales in Great Britain cannot be compared with the preceding year due 
to the acquisition of Caradon Terrain on 1 February 1999. This acquisition
made Great Britain the fourth largest market of the Group. Following the
successful integration of this company, Geberit today has a powerful sales
base in the British market.

With an increase of 6.5%, the growth rate in sales in Germany accelerated
noticeably in comparison to the preceding year (3.4%). The Netherlands
had an even steeper increase of 21.9%, followed by Italy with 15.9% and
France with 12.4%. By far the largest leaps were reported by Eastern Europe,
with an increase of 39.1%, and Asia, with 93.6%; at 8.8% the USA achieved
a significant increase as well (previous year 23.9%). Measured in absolute
sales figures these markets still represent a relatively modest size. Their
rapid development is nonetheless a clear indicator of their large potential
for the future. 

With a currency-adjusted increase of 3.9% (previous year 12.1%) Switzerland
grew at a somewhat more restrained rate. The same applies to Austria with
5.9% (previous year 10.0%) and Belgium with 7.5% (previous year 12.7%).

Compound annual growth rate (CAGR): 9.6%

Group sales development 1989 –1999
(in MCHF)
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477 543 665 785 845 890 899 905 957 1032 1191
+13.8 +22.5 +18.0 +7.6 +5.4 +1.0 +0.7 +5.7 +7.9 +15.4YoY %-Growth

Germany (42.5%)
Italy (14.2%)
Switzerland (12.2%)
Great Britain (5.0%)
Austria (4.9%)
Netherlands (4.8%)
France (3.8%)
Belgium (3.6%)
Others (9.0%)

1999 sales
by markets
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In line with its internationally oriented growth strategy, the Geberit Group 
is investing substantial financial and human resources in a permanent devel-
opment of new markets. The most outstanding event during the reporting
year was the acquisition of Caradon Terrain Ltd., headquartered in Ayles-
ford, Kent which is one of the leading suppliers of plastic drainage systems
in Great Britain. Its efficient and well-established sales and marketing
organisation makes the company, now renamed Geberit Terrain Ltd., an
ideal platform to develop the British market for Geberit products. 

In Switzerland, the Geberit Group increased its participation in FAE Fluid Air
Energy SA from 40 to 70 percent. This Group company manufactures 
the technologically demanding composite pipes for the highly successful
Mepla water supply system.

Encouraging progress continues in all the Central European markets in
which the Group possesses sales organisations, specifically Poland, Czech
Republic, Hungary, Slovakia and Slovenia. In the Baltic states of Estonia
and Latvia, several wholesalers were successfully appointed for the sale and
distribution of Geberit products. Installation systems and drainage sys-
tems, especially the Pluvia roof drainage system, find high interest in both
Central and Eastern Europe.

The involvement of the Geberit Group in the Far East is primarily concen-
trated on the two production and sales organisations in China. Despite 
an economic environment which remains difficult, Geberit achieved first mar-
ket successes with flushing systems developed especially for the Chinese
market. In Korea, the Group was awarded the contract to equip the new
Seoul airport with the Pluvia roof drainage system – a large contract which
will also yield valuable references.

In the USA the Group worked intensively on the development of a pre-wall
installation system, tailor-made for the American market. With this, Geberit
intends to become an important supplier of installation systems connected
with water-saving flushing systems.

Of the five product lines, drainage systems, water supply systems and
installation systems enjoyed the highest growth rates. Flushing systems
and shower toilets, by contrast, achieved only modest growth rates.

With sales of MCHF 392.5, drainage systems showed an increase of 28.2%
during the reporting year. Their share in Group sales is now 33.0%. About
three-quarters of the reported additional sales were due to the first-time
consolidation of Geberit Terrain. In addition, continued strong demand for
the new low-noise drainage system provided for a considerable organic
growth. 

Varied progress 
for the product lines

Accelerated development 
of new markets
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The water supply product line achieved sales of MCHF 118.8 and once 
more demonstrated the highest rate of organic growth with an increase of
23.8%. The share in sales rose to 10.0%. The market success of the 
new plastic fittings in the reporting year exceeded all expectations and
contributed substantially to the strongly increased sales.

Installation systems also improved significantly. This sector, the largest 
in the Group with a share in sales of 40.1%, achieved an increase in sales
of 10.3% to reach MCHF 477.9. Contributing to this increase were the
successful launch of new system solutions as well as the improving accep-
tance of installation systems in new markets.

Despite their partial substitution by installation systems, the Group’s
flushing systems generated sales of MCHF 180.7. Due to the fact that the
product line’s sales increase of 2.6% was below Group average, its 
share in sales declined to 15.2%. The growth leaders in this sector were
dual flush technology and electronic urinal flushing systems.

Sales of shower toilets increased only marginally by 1.3%, to reach MCHF

20.9, resulting in a share in group sales of 1.7%.

Again in the fiscal year 1999, operating results for the Geberit Group rose
stronger than consolidated sales, thus reaching a new high. Earnings
before interest and taxes (EBIT) increased 25.6% over the preceding year to
MCHF 176.4 (previous year MCHF 140.4). This corresponds to an EBIT mar-
gin of 14.8%. Operating income before amortisation (EBITA) grew by 18.4%
to reach MCHF 242.2 (previous year MCHF 204.6). Operating cash flow
(EBITDA) rose by 18.7% to MCHF 303.5 (previous year MCHF 255.7) and thus
amounted to 25.5% of Group sales.

This encouraging performance is primarily due to a clear relative decline 
in cost of materials. Compared to the preceding year, materials cost rose
merely 6.8% to MCHF 331.9 and thus amounted to only 27.9% of Group
sales (previous year 30.1%). Consistent implementation of the procurement
strategy introduced in 1997 and lower average materials prices compared
to the preceding year contributed to the positive outcome. The sharp price
increase for plastics observed in the second half-year did not have a
material impact on the results of the reporting year. In addition, a further
increase of the value chain was achieved by insourcing the production of
parts which previously were purchased. This primarily included injection-
moulded fittings for the Mepla water supply system. Finally, the complete
consolidation of FAE, the manufacturer of Mepla multi-layer pipes, from
mid-year onwards led to a structural shift within the profit and loss state-
ment which had a positive effect upon cost of materials.

300

250
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100

Operating results
(EBITA, EBITDA) 1997–1999
(in MCHF)

97 98 99
EBITA
EBITDA

Installation systems (40.1%)
Drainage systems (33.0%)
Flushing systems (15.2%)
Water supply systems (10.0%)
Shower toilets (1.7%)

1999 sales
by product line

Above average growth in
operating results
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Despite the insourcing of production, personnel costs rose slightly slower
than sales, by 14.7% to MCHF 291.9 amounting to 24.5% of Group sales
(previous year 24.7%). The additional expenditure associated with the in-
creased insourcing was more than offset by further gains in productivity.
The implementation of the production strategy undertaken during the
reporting year to improve economies of scale also showed first positive
results. 

Depreciation expense of MCHF 61.3 increased at an above average rate of
20% compared to the preceding year. This can be attributed to the in-
creased investment volume in recent years as well as to the two acquisi-
tions. Other operating expenses also rose at an above average rate by
31.7% to MCHF 119.7. In addition to the effects of the acquisitions, higher
expenditures for repairs and maintenance and marketing and administra-
tion also contributed to this rise. Group efficiency, and thus the operating
margin could again be improved because operating expenses, which
totalled MCHF 804.8, increased only by 13.8%, a lower rate than that of
sales.

Amortisation of goodwill and other intangible assets remained practically
unchanged compared to the preceding year at MCHF 65.8 (previous year
MCHF 64.2) and contributed to the sharp improvement in relative operating
results. The amortisation can almost entirely be attributed to the 1997
leveraged buyout of the Geberit Group. Besides goodwill, it includes capi-
talised patents, know-how and trade marks. Since “Patents and Know-
how” will be fully amortised by March 2000, this item will decline substan-
tially in the current fiscal year.

During the ten-year period from 1989 to 1999, Geberit was able to increase
sales at an average of 9.6% per year. Operating results before amortisation
(EBITA) and operating cash flow (EBITDA) rose 13.6% and 13.4% respective-
ly per year over the same period. Innovation power, market development
and efficiency improvements have been sustained driving forces for above
average growth in sales and operating results. 

In the fiscal year 1999 the Geberit Group achieved a net income of 
MCHF 54.3 (previous year MCHF 37.4), representing an increase of 45.2%.
The ratio of net income to sales thus stood at 4.6%.

Significantly improved 
net income
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Changes in sales and operating 
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Net financial expenses declined by 36.2% to MCHF 37.9. This results from
the on-going repayment of debt and the improved capital structure of the
Group following the initial public offering. Net debt and average costs of
debt were clearly reduced. However, a one-time expense in the amount of
MCHF 36.0 was incurred to refinance Group indebtedness; this is reported
separately in the consolidated income statement. As a result, net income
was charged with MCHF 25.5 net of tax.

Contained in the tax expenses of MCHF 47.7 is a reduction in deferred tax
liabilities of  MCHF 3.2, which resulted from changes in tax rates at the
headquarters of the company.

Net cashflow during the reporting period reached MCHF 186.4 (previous year
MCHF 152.1). This corresponds to an increase of 22.6%. Free cashflow i.e.
net cashflow after net capital expenditure and changes in net working capital
was MCHF 108.0. The acquisition of Caradon Terrain in February 1999 and
the increase in participation in FAE in July 1999 from 40% to 70%, together
totalling MCHF 69.3, could thus be financed through cash and cash equiva-
lents generated during the reporting period.

In preparation for the listing on the stock exchange, Geberit AG, headquar-
tered in Jona, Switzerland, was founded on 26 April 1999. On 21 June 1999
the shareholders of Geberit International SA, Luxembourg, exchanged all
their ordinary shares for registered shares in Geberit AG. This transaction
made Geberit AG the new holding company of the Geberit Group. The intro-
duction of shares of Geberit AG on the Swiss Stock Exchange (SWX)
occurred on 22 June 1999. Including the Greenshoe, a total of 2.847 million
shares, or 68.4%, were placed on the market at an initial offering price of
CHF 330. Of those, 1.425 million shares represented a capital increase,
while the remaining 1.422 million shares originated from the portfolios of 
previous shareholders.

Net revenue for Geberit AG from the issue amounted to MCHF 446.5. This
sum, together with new bank debts of MCHF 652.1, were used to acquire
100% of the outstanding preference shares in Geberit International SA

(MCHF 280.7 inclusive of accumulated dividends) and the major portion of its
senior subordinated bond (MCHF 140.0 inclusive of repurchase premiums),
as well as to repay in advance existing junior subordinated debt (MCHF

156.9, inclusive of accrued interest). In addition, the existing bank debts
were restructured (MCHF 490.4). The remaining amount from the issue
served to pay financial fees and was used for general business purposes.

High net cashflow

Successful exchange listing
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As a result of the exchange listing and the continued high operative 
cashflow, total debt at the end of 1999 was reduced by MCHF 158.9 to
MCHF 642.8, and net debt was reduced by MCHF 186.2 to MCHF 516.5.

Following the leveraged buyout in March 1997, the equity ratio has risen
from 12.4% to 31.8%. Based on average equity, the Group achieved a 14.2%
return on equity in 1999. The ratio of net debt to equity (gearing) improved
from 256% as of 31 December 1998 to 105% as of 31 December 1999, thus
practically reaching the desired target figure of 100%. The Group’s present
capital structure is tuned to its ability to achieve high operating cashflows,
while it simultaneously supports implementation of Geberit’s internationally
oriented growth strategy.

The Group’s liquidity situation is good. In addition to year-end available
liquidity of MCHF 126.3, the Group has access to a revolving working capital
facility for operations of MCHF 50.0, which had not been used at 31 Decem-
ber 1999. 

As of 31 December 1999, Geberit held 5,021 of its own shares in treasury.
These shares were purchased on the market at an average price of 
CHF 495. They were directly deducted from equity in accordance with the
International Accounting Standards (IAS) and are intended primarily for
future employee and management participation programs as well as for
general business purposes.

As a consequence of the two acquisitions as well as further increased
capital expenditure, total assets for the fiscal year increased by 5.3% to
MCHF 1,546.2. Net working capital increased altogether from MCHF 59.8 to
MCHF 72.1, while property, plant and equipment (PPE) rose from MCHF

456.2 to MCHF 516.9. Of those, MCHF 7.4 of net working capital and MCHF

64.6 of PPE are due to the two acquisitions. Intangible assets decreased
from MCHF 618.6 to MCHF 581.0.

Debt and Equity base 1997–1999
(in MCHF)

Long-term debt

Total debt

Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt

Equity ratio

12/97

895

947

134

813

15.1%

12/98

751

802

99

703

18.7%

12/99

574

643

126

517

31.8%

Rising equity base – improved
balance sheet structure
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Business and financial review

Invested operating capital, consisting of net working capital, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, reached MCHF 1,170.0 at the end of
1999 (previous year MCHF 1,134.6). Return on operating assets, as a ratio of
operating profit (EBITA) to average invested operating capital, stood at 21%
during the reporting year.

The Group introduced the Euro as the reporting and accounting currency 
in all its major subsidiaries in Germany, Austria, Belgium, the Netherlands and
France during the first half of 1999, thus replacing the former national cur-
rencies. These companies are now in a position to carry out all transactions
in Euro and to report all business processes in Euro. In Spain, Portugal and
Italy, the conversion to the Euro is planned for 1 January 2001.

Currency exchange rates remained very stable during 1999. The Euro, in
which the Group transacted 76.5% of sales, weakened slightly against the
Swiss Franc on a yearly average. The British Pound and the Dollar clearly
rose against the Swiss Franc. However, their shares in sales comprised
only 6.9%. In total, translation losses resulting from currency fluctuations
amounted to approximately 1% of Group sales.

Capital expenditures in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
amounted to MCHF 78.1 for 1999, MCHF 10.6 above the comparable figure
for the preceding year. In proportion to sales, the level of capital expendi-
ture remained nearly constant at 6.6%. As in previous years, the bulk of the
funds was required for continuous replacement of production facilities and
introduction of additional facilities, followed by the procurement of tools,
moulds and devices for new or improved products. A significant amount was
also used for the completion of the logistics centre in Pfullendorf, the largest
single project during the reporting period. And finally, the Group also in-
vested a considerable amount in expansion of its sales organisations, with
the purchase of a building for the sales subsidiary in Stuttgart, an expan-
sion of the subsidiary in Nieuwegein in the Netherlands and the purchase
of a plot of land in Warsaw.

Permanent optimisation of business processes
The permanent optimisation of existing processes and procedures is an
integral element of the group-wide growth strategy and characterises the
corporate culture of Geberit persistently. At Geberit, change management
is a practised process of constant improvement. 

Introduction of the Euro

High investments for future
growth
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During the reporting year, far-reaching changes related both to individual
manufacturing companies and to the area of logistics were undertaken in the
context of a consistent implementation of the production strategy elab-
orated in 1998. With the intention to further reduce production costs while
simultaneously creating free space for later expansion of capacity, efforts
were devoted to a maximum utilisation of the highly automated production
facilities at the main sites of Pfullendorf and Jona. At the same time, small-
er production series and labour-intensive products were shifted to loca-
tions with lower wage costs. These comprehensive transfers of know-how,
machines and tools occurred without impairment of deliveries. 

In addition, in 1999 capacities at the Jona site for the production of plastic
fittings for water supply systems had to be considerably expanded to satisfy
sharply increased market demand. And at the Italian Deriplast site, a fully
integrated, high-performance extrusion infrastructure for the production of
low-noise drainage pipes was installed.

According to plan, Geberit took its new logistics centre at Pfullendorf into
operation in 1999. This building, constructed at an investment expense 
of approximately MCHF 40, is equipped with fully automated high-bay storage
and the newest warehousing technology, and represents an important 
focal point for the Group-wide logistics concept. Where possible, wholesale
customers will be supplied directly from the sites. This concept meshes
seamlessly with the new production strategy and additionally provides a
substantial contribution to reducing transportation costs.

Widespread research and development activities
At Geberit, research and development (R&D) enjoys a prominent position.
Since new products rank among the most powerful growth drivers of the
Group, product development belongs to the most important business proc-
esses. All R&D activities for the Geberit Group are centralised in Jona
within the Geberit Technik AG. In this Group company, approximately 130
engineers, technicians, draftsmen and laboratory staff members pursue
applied research and development in the field of sanitary technology as well
as in related technical fields such as building technology. For many proj-
ects, Geberit Technik AG works world-wide in collaboration with external
research specialists, engineering companies and technical universities.

During the reporting year, various strategically important projects were pur-
sued. These included the development of a new generation of modularly
designed, electronically controlled flushing systems, the introduction of a
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uniform fill valve with improved performance for all cisterns and markets,
the development of more cost-effective and easier-to-install system ele-
ments for pre-wall and built-in installations as well as various innovations in
the area of water supply systems. Altogether, 19 new patents were regis-
tered during the reporting period.

Expenditures for R&D in 1999 amounted to MCHF 29.1, or 2.4% of sales.
While absolute expenses for R&D showed an increase over the previous year
(MCHF 28.0), the corresponding share of sales decreased slightly. This
resulted from the generally lower R&D expenditures of the British company
Caradon Terrain which was consolidated for the first time in the reporting
year.

The Group’s innovation rate again exceeded the 30 percent mark. The
innovation rate is defined as the share in sales which is achieved by new or
improved products introduced to the market during the last three years.

The Geberit Group acts according to the principles of sustainability, with
respect to its ecological and social behaviour as well as its economic suc-
cess. With a comprehensive environmental strategy and a consequent
implementation of group-wide environmental management, the Group layed
the foundation for the integration of ecological thinking and behaviour in
everyday business activities already ten years ago.The fact that Geberit shares
were taken up by various national and international sustainability invest-
ment funds is an impressive recognition of the Group’s long-term efforts in
the ecological and social areas. Recently published analyses of sustain-
ability investment funds placed Geberit in a leading position regarding sus-
tainability and thereby confirm its strong performance.

1999

25

43

17

15

Structure of Research and Development expenditure 1996 –1999
(in %)

Product improvement

Product development

Innovations

Applied research

1996

30

46

14

10

1997

28

46

15

11

1998

26

42

21

11

Business and financial review

Committed to the principles 
of sustainability
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During the reporting year the Pfullendorf location was successfully certified
for the second time (ISO 14001). An environmental declaration published 
in this context provided details of the improvements achieved during the past
four years, for example the reduction of energy usage by 5.3%, waste by
21% and packaging by as much as 35.8%. These encouraging results are
due to technical measures, increased environmental awareness among
employees and changes in various process procedures.

At present the site in Jona is undergoing re-certification. Here, too, over the
past four years the environmental load has been reduced by 10% in relation
to the added value produced. With the assistance of an annual materials
flow analysis for the entire plant, future improvements are being determined
and measured.

Eco-efficiency balances are among the fundamental principles governing
the development of new products and may strongly influence their design.
For example, in a comparison of the environmental compatibility of battery
versus mains-fed electronic flushing controls, batteries clearly came out
ahead – a surprising result to many – which was naturally taken into consid-
eration in the product development.

At the end of 1999 the Geberit Group had 4,309 employees world-wide. This
represents an increase of 521 persons or 13.8% over the previous year.
More than one half of this increase is due to the acquisition and integration
of the British firm Caradon Terrain. The average number of employees
throughout the year was 4,258, which represents an increase of 11.4%.

The Geberit Group’s competitiveness was further improved thanks to its
employees’ efficiency and flexibility. Sales per employee in the reporting
year increased by 3.5% to TCHF 280. Over the last twelve years the number
of employees has doubled, while sales have approximately trippled.

At the end of 1999, 38% of employees worked in Germany, 25% in Switzer-
land, 11% in Austria, 7% in China, 6% in Great Britain, 3% in Italy, 3% in
Slovenia and 7% in other countries. Of the total number of employees, 55%
were assigned to the production process, 25% to marketing and sales,
13% to administration and 3% to research and development. 4% of employ-
ees were apprentices.

Business and financial review

Increase in workforce

Production (54.9%)
Marketing, Sales (25.4%)
Administration (12.6%)
Apprentices (3.8%)
Research and Development (3.3%)
 

 
1999 headcount
by business process
(as of 31.12.)
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In conjunction with last June’s exchange listing, employees of the Geberit
Group were able to acquire Geberit shares under favourable conditions
within the framework of a participation programme. Of the 3,664 employ-
ees entitled to subscribe, nearly 60% participated in the programme,
purchasing 117,977 shares. At an issue price of CHF 330 this represents an
investment value of approximately MCHF 39. Altogether 2,059 members 
of management and employees are participating in the Geberit Group as
shareholders. They held a 12.2% share in the Group as of 31 December
1999. The majority of these shares are subject to blocking periods from 12
to 54 months.

The Board of Directors of the Geberit Group decided to offer three new
participation programmes for management and employees as of the year
2000. Each year an employee participation programme will be offered
which enables the purchase of a certain number of shares (2 year blocking
period) at a discount. The magnitude of the discount can vary from 10% 
to 50% and is related to the achievement of corporate goals. Under the terms
of the new management participation programme, members of senior man-
agement (approximately 120 managers) may in future draw their annual
bonus either entirely or in part in shares (3 year blocking period). If shares
are drawn, an additional incentive is offered in the form of stock options.
An additional option programme was created for the members of the Group’s
highest management level (approximately 50 managers). As a portion of 
his or her entire compensation each participant will in future receive stock
options, whose exercise potential is dependent upon a positive share 
price performance.

These three programmes create future-oriented incentives which serve to
increase corporate performance and help to achieve strategic goals.

Employees 1998 and 1999 by country
(as of 31.12.)

Germany

Switzerland

Austria

Great Britain

Italy

China

Slovenia

Others

Total

1998

1551

971

446

0

138

283

135

264

3788

in %

41

26

12

0

3

7

4

7

100

1999

1653

1079

460

275

146

286

147

263

4309

in %

38

25

11

6

3

7

3

7

100

Attractive management 
and employee participation
programmes
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Well-trained employees are a central factor to the success of an innovative
and growth-oriented company. Therefore Geberit invests more than MCHF 2.0
for the training and further education of its employees.

The training programme for members of management which begun the pre-
vious year was continued in 1999. This programme is split up into two areas.
“Challenge” focusses on senior management members directly reporting 
to the managing directors and emphasises on the training of entrepreneur-
ial thinking and behaviour. “Leadership” supports junior members of the
management in further developing their personality and know-how and in
preparing them for future tasks. Above that, the Group offers a whole range
of individual employee development programmes to all its employees. 

At present, approximately 170 young people are completing their basic
professional training at Geberit in Germany, Switzerland, Austria and Great
Britain. With that the Group provides an important contribution to the edu-
cation of young qualified employees and to the improvement of the general
apprenticeship situation.

The Europa Forum which was established in 1996 in collaboration with
employee representatives proved its value again in the reporting year. This
pan-European information and consulting organ consists of 11 members
representing the interests of employees from Geberit companies in Germany,
Austria, Great Britain and Switzerland, as well as three delegates repre-
senting the employer. Important topics addressed during the reporting year
were the economic development of the Geberit Group, the exchange 
listing and the related employee participation programme, the ongoing imple-
mentation of the production strategy, the new logistics concept and the
introduction of new products. The conferences took place in a constructive
atmosphere and promoted mutual understanding and trust.

Business and financial review

Good understanding between 
the social partners

Long-term commitment 
to education and development
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The Geberit Group finds itself in a very good position following the fiscal
year 1999, which was successful in every respect.

Thanks to its successful concentration on the attractive market for sanitary
technology and its strong position in the renovations sector, the company
is increasingly detaching itself from developments in the construction
industry and is clearly growing more rapidly than the industry. Conventional
installation methods are being increasingly replaced by new procedures,
and well thought-through sanitary technology systems offer the sanitary
specialist additional potential to improve his value added and to broaden
his competence.

Geberit’s strategy is growth-oriented, while retaining high operating margins.
Besides a further exploitation of its major markets, this growth will be
achieved by the Group’s forceful expansion of its market position in numer-
ous other Western European countries such as Great Britain, France, Spain
and Portugal. Above that, further development of the Central and Eastern
European markets as well as a targeted expansion of activities in the USA, in
China and in Southeast Asia retain a high priority. Thanks to its healthy
equity base and its ability to generate high operating cashflows, the Group
is in the position to expand its market presence by means of acquisitions,
should suitable opportunities occur.

The overall economic perspectives for Europe are very favourable. A notice-
able recovery is expected for the construction industry, particularly in the
private housing and renovations sectors.

For the fiscal year 2000, we expect ongoing strong growth with continued
high operating margins, particularly in view of the company’s favourable
start in the first quarter. In view of the decline in amortisation of goodwill
and intangible assets as well as the lower financing costs, net income should
increase at a much higher rate than sales.

Outlook
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The “Installation systems” product line encompasses the entire sanitary
systems technology – from concealed cisterns to universally applicable pre-
wall systems for customised bathroom design. Due to a comprehensive
systems approach and carefully designed components, the productivity of
the installer on site is increased and installation quality enhanced. 

Concealed cisterns manufactured from environmentally friendly polyethyl-
ene are the key components of all installation systems. Their in-wall applica-
tion is getting rarer. Plumbing elements comprise a concealed cistern and 
a basic installation frame which are either installed by attaching them to the
wall and laying bricks on each side (Kombifix, Sanbloc) or by flexible use 
of pre-wall or dry-wall applications (Duofix). All plumbing elements enable uni-
versal application and speed up installation. Systems comprise pre-fabri-
cated installation modules for specific projects (Register) or modular com-
ponents enabling the on-site assembly of a pre-wall installation (Geberit
installation system GIS). Flushing of the concealed cistern is initiated via the
actuator plate. Two types of flushing are possible: dual-flush for defined
volumes of water and flush-stop operation for individual water saving.

Since the assembly of Geberit installation systems is largely independant of
masonry and plastering work, the plumber can make the paneling himself,
thereby ensuring exact planning and rapid completion of the work. The end-
user thus receives a bathroom in line with his requirements and with a mini-
mum of disruption. 

At 63 percent, Germany is by far the largest market for installation systems,
followed by Italy and the Netherlands. Together, these three markets stand
for more than 80 percent of the Group’s sales of installation systems.

Installation systems

Product lines

Product groups:

– Concealed cisterns 
– Plumbing elements
– Systems 
– Actuator plates 

Germany (63.2%)
Italy (10.5%)
Netherlands (6.8%)
Others (19.5%)

1999 sales
by markets
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The drainage systems product line embraces mainly the entire Geberit
drainage piping technology. This includes the product range of Geberit
Terrain and Deriplast as well as sanitary ventilation. The Group offers com-
plete system families which are equally suitable for roof, house or under-
ground drainage, as well as sewerage and sanitary ventilation. Additionally,
pressure piping for gas and water supply is available.

The Geberit pipes and fittings from polyethylene are renowned for their ab-
solute watertightness, high resistance to chemicals and hot water as well
as a high degree of flexibility and extreme robustness. This comprehensive
system approach also includes the necessary tools and planning software.
The low noise drainage system, “Geberit Silent/db20”, containing mineral
reinforced plastics has outstanding sound absorbent properties due to its
high inherent weight. The “Geberit Pluvia” roof drainage system has a
considerably higher drainage capacity compared to conventional systems
through the use of special roof inlets which promote complete filling of 
the piping system. This results in smaller pipe diameters which can be laid
without an incline. Resulting from the acquisition of Caradon Terrain, Geberit
has at its disposal a comprehensive range of PVC pipes and fittings for
house, roof and underground drainage applications. The waste fittings and
traps are suitable for a wide range of applications and connect the drainage
systems with the sanitary appliances. These include, amongst others, bath
and shower drains, traps for hand basins, urinals, kitchen sinks and floor
drains. Deriplast Spa produces and sells a wide range of underground pip-
ing for the transport of water, waste water and gas. With “Geberit Aerotec
90” the Group possesses an innovative sanitary ventilation system com-
prising fire resistant mineral based material for pipes and fittings as well as
connections, flappers and individual ventilators. 

Geberit has a comprehensive range of tools for installers such as electric
welding equipment for electro weld couplings and welding plates for butt
welding of polyethylene pipes and fittings.

The major markets for waste water systems are Italy, Switzerland and Ger-
many with a total share of almost 60 percent. 

Product groups:

– Polyethylene pipes and fittings
– Low-noise drainage system 
– Roof drainage system 
– PVC drainage and rainwater system 
– Waste fittings and traps
– Underground piping systems 
– Tools  
– Sanitary ventilation 

Drainage systems 

Italy (20.9%)
Switzerland (20.5%)
Germany (17.0%)
Others (41.6%)

1999 sales
by markets
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The “Flushing system” product line comprises, with the exception of con-
cealed cisterns, all the flushing technologies within the Geberit Group. This
includes electronically controlled systems for public and semi-public con-
veniences. 

Geberit flushing systems are renowned for their ease of installation, longev-
ity, environmental compatibility, quiet performance and ease of operation.
Particular attention has been paid to water saving aspects. 

Visible cisterns are suitable for all types of WC bowls. They can be used
both in new buildings and in renovation work. The product range contains
various types for wall-hung and close coupled installations. Thanks to the
dual flush mechanism, a family of four persons can save up to 40m3 of
water per annum. For ceramic cisterns, a complete set of flushing mecha-
nisms is supplied as a kit consisting of fill and flush valves. They are
designed to be compatible with a wide variety of ceramic cistern designs.
Fill valves and flush valves are available mainly as replacement parts for 
the entire range of Geberit cisterns. Touch-free electronic urinal and WC flush
systems as well as faucets fulfil the hygiene requirements in public and
semi-public applications and assist in water saving.

Over 60 percent of the 1999 sales in flushing systems was attained in the
three markets Germany, France and Italy.

Flushing systems 

Product groups:

– Visible cisterns 
– Mechanisms for ceramic cisterns 
– Fill valves/flush valves 
– Electronic urinal and WC flush systems 
– Electronic faucets

Germany (37.2%)
France (13.9%)
Italy (10.1%)
Others (38.8%)

1999 sales
by markets

Product lines
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“Geberit Mepla” is a water supply system comprising multi-layered metal/
plastic composite pipes, related connecting elements (fittings) and a wide
range of accessories and tools. The materials used can be separated and
recycled and represent a superior eco-balance to traditional metal pipes. The
Mepla multi-layered pipe combines the advantages of corrosion resistant
plastic with the stability of metal. The Mepla system is distinguished by a pat-
ented and very rapid connecting system. This allows the fitting to be pushed
directly into the pipe and firmly pressed together with a special tool. In ad-
dition, a flexible Mepla pipe (Mepla Flex) is available which is mainly used for
connections to various sanitary appliances and faucets. 

Fittings are available in three types of material, namely bronze, brass and
plastic. The plastic fittings introduced in 1998/99 are manufactured from a
high-grade plastic which can withstand high temperatures and pressures
and is highly chemical resistant. A comprehensive range of accessories is
available to facilitate installation. Pressing, cutting and bending tools com-
plete the total system. 

Geberit Mepla is particularly suitable for hot and cold potable water supply
piping. The system has also been successfully used in heating applications
as distribution lines, standpipes and radiator connections. Installations for
compressed air and other media are further suitable application areas for the
system. 

Due to its obvious advantages, the Mepla system has been very well accept-
ed in the marketplace. Geberit is thus well positioned to become a leading
supplier of water supply systems. 

In 1999, 82 percent of Geberit Mepla sales was generated in the three largest
markets with Germany and Italy as the leading users. 

Water supply systems

Product groups:

– Mepla metal/plastic composite pipes 
– Mepla Fittings
– Accessories
– Tools

Germany (57.0%)
Italy (15.6%)
Austria (8.7%)
Others (18.7%)
 

1999 sales
by markets
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Geberit Group

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade accounts receivable, net

Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses

Inventories, net

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net

Financial assets and other non-current assets

Goodwill and intangible assets, net

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings

Trade accounts payable

Tax liabilities and tax provisions

Other current provisions and liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt

Accrued pension obligation

Deferred tax liabilities

Other non-current provisions and liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Minority interest 

Shareholders’ equity

Capital stock

Treasury shares

Capital in excess of par

Retained earnings

Distribution in excess of predecessor basis

Cumulative translation adjustments

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes on pages 42 to 73 are an integral part of 
the consolidated financial statements.

Assets

Liabilities and 
Shareholders’
Equity

99.0

42.6

32.1

91.9

265.6

456.2

128.2

618.6

1203.0

1468.6

50.8

42.7

37.5

64.1

195.1

750.9

80.0

140.5

25.1

996.5

2.7

109.1

190.9

35.7

(88.3)

26.9

274.3

1468.6

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

14

16

17

19

126.3

69.1

29.2

110.7

335.3

516.9

113.0

581.0

1210.9

1546.2

69.1

70.4

41.2

66.5

247.2

573.7

82.6

129.8

14.3

800.4

6.4

83.2

(2.5)

418.9

54.7

(88.3)

26.2

492.2

1546.2

Note 31.12.1998

MCHF

31.12.1999

MCHF
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Note 1998

MCHF

1999

MCHF

Consolidated Income Statements

Sales

Sales deductions

Net sales

Cost of materials

Personnel expenses

Depreciation expense

Other operating expenses, net

Total operating expenses, net

Operating profit before amortisation (EBITA)

Amortisation of goodwill and intangibles

Operating profit (EBIT) 

Financial income and (expenses), net

Debt extinguishment costs

Profit before income tax expenses and minority interest

Income tax expenses

Net income before minority interest

Minority interest, net of tax

Net income

Other financial figures

Earnings per share:

– basic

– diluted

– adjusted

Research and development expenses

Interest expenses, net

Operating cashflow (EBITDA)

Net cashflow

Free cashflow

The accompanying notes on pages 42 to 73 are an integral part of 
the consolidated financial statements.

1032.2

120.4

911.8

310.7

254.5

51.1

90.9

707.2

204.6

64.2

140.4

(59.4)

81.0

43.3

37.7

0.3

37.4

8.06

8.06

33.70

28.0

(50.4)

255.7

152.1

114.0

21

22

23

12/23

24

20

20

20

3

23

25

25

1190.7

143.7

1047.0

331.9

291.9

61.3

119.7

804.8

242.2

65.8

176.4

(37.9)

36.0

102.5

47.7

54.8

0.5

54.3

13.29

13.26

32.84

29.1

(35.0)

303.5

186.4

108.0
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Balance at 1 January 1998

Net income

Foreign currency items

Balance at 31 December 1998

Balance at 1 January 1999

Retirement of ordinary shares

Issuance of new shares, net

Repurchase of preference shares

Dividends paid on preference shares

Net income

Purchase of treasury shares

Foreign currency items

Balance at 31 December 1999

The accompanying notes on pages 42 to 73 are an integral part of 
the consolidated financial statements.

Ordinary
shares

MCHF

54.6

54.6

54.6

(54.6)

83.2

83.2

Treasury
shares

MCHF

(2.5)

(2.5)

Prefer
ence 

shares

MCHF

54.5

54.5

54.5

(54.5)

0.0

Capital 
in excess

of par

MCHF

190.9

190.9

190.9

418.9

(190.9)

418.9

Retained
earnings

(deficit)

MCHF

(1.7)

37.4

35.7

35.7

(35.3)

54.3

54.7

Distr. in
excess of
predeces
sor basis

MCHF

(88.3)

(88.3)

(88.3)

(88.3)

Cum 
translation

adjust
ments

MCHF

30.5

(3.6)

26.9

26.9

(0.7)

26.2

Total
share 

holders
equity

MCHF

240.5

37.4

(3.6)

274.3

274.3

(54.6)

502.1

(245.4)

(35.3)

54.3

(2.5)

(0.7)

492.2

-

.

-
-
’

-



Consolidated Statements of Cashflows

Cash provided by operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to cashflow from operating activities

Depreciation and amortisation

Financial expenses, net

Income tax expenses

Other

Operating cashflow before changes in net 
working capital and taxes

Income taxes paid

Changes in net working capital

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash used in investing activities

Acquisitions, net

Purchase of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets

Other, net

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash used in financing activities

Proceeds from short-term borrowings

Repayments of short-term borrowings

Proceeds from long-term borrowings

Repayments of long-term borrowings

Interest paid

Debt extinguishment costs paid

Proceeds from issuance of shares

Repurchase of preference shares

Dividends paid

Other, net

Net cash used in financing activities

Effects of exchange rates on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The accompanying notes on pages 42 to 73 are an integral part of 
the consolidated financial statements.

37.4

115.3

59.4

43.3

10.2

265.6

(55.8)

25.6

235.4

(67.5)

3.8

2.2

(61.5)

41.5

(45.1)

(157.8)

(45.2)

(2.5)

(209.1)

0.4

(34.8)

133.8

99.0

7/9

23

24

7/9

7/9

10

10

12

12

23

23

19

19

19

54.3

127.1

73.9

47.7

3.1

306.1

(50.6)

(5.3)

250.2

(69.3)

(78.1)

5.0

2.5

(139.9)

58.3

(68.0)

660.0

(797.8)

(66.2)

(21.7)

442.3

(245.4)

(35.3)

(10.3)

(84.1)

1.1

27.3

99.0

126.3

Note 1998

MCHF

1999

MCHF
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Geberit Group

The Geberit Group is a leading European supplier of sanitary plumbing sys-
tems for the residential and commercial new construction and renovation
markets. The products of the Group consist principally of sanitary installation
systems, drainage systems, flushing systems and water supply systems
which are sold to plumbers and installers through wholesalers.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include Geberit AG (or
its predecessor Geberit International SA) and the companies which it controls
(“the Group”). Control is the power to govern the financial and operating po-
licies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. This control is
normally evidenced when the Group owns, either directly or indirectly, more
than 50% of the voting power of a company. The equity and net income attrib-
utable to minority shareholders’ interests are shown separately in the con-
solidated balance sheets and consolidated income statements, respectively.
The Group eliminates intra-group transactions, intra-group balances and
unrealised profits as part of the Group consolidation process. Until 21 June 1999,
Geberit International SA (“GISA”) was the parent company of the Group (Note 2).

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with Interna-
tional Accounting Standards (“IAS”), and are prepared using the historical
cost convention. The preparation of consolidated financial statements
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results can differ from estimates. Because of the adoption 
of new accounting standards and to conform with changes in presentation
in the current year, certain reclassifications have been made to the 1998
figures.

The term “MCHF” in these consolidated financial statements refers to mil-
lions of Swiss francs, “MDEM” refers to millions of Deutsche mark, “MEUR”
refers to millions of Euro and “MGBP” refers to millions of Great Britain
pounds sterling.

1999
Geberit AG, a Swiss company, was incorporated on 26 April 1999. On 
21 June 1999 the shareholders of GISA contributed all ordinary shares of
GISA to Geberit AG for 2,730,000 ordinary shares of CHF 20 par value each
of Geberit AG (“the Exchange”). In addition, the shares of Geberit Ltd., 
the holding company of Geberit Terrain Ltd., were contributed to Geberit
AG in exchange for six Geberit AG shares. As a result of the Exchange,
Geberit AG was established as the ultimate holding company of the Group,

1. Basis of presentation

2. Changes in Group 
organisation

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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with 2,735,006 shares outstanding, without a change in control of the Group.
On 22 June 1999, Geberit AG successfully completed an initial public offering
of 2,846,825 shares of Geberit AG, of which 1,424,994 shares were offered
through a capital increase by Geberit AG and 1,421,831 shares (including over-
allotment option) were offered by certain existing shareholders of Geberit AG

(“the IPO”), (Note 19).

Effective 1 February 1999, the Group (through an affiliate) acquired 100% of
Caradon Terrain Ltd. (renamed after the acquisition to Geberit Terrain Ltd.),
a subsidiary of the UK-based Caradon Plc for MGBP 26.3 (MCHF 61.3),
including the repayment of Geberit Terrain Ltd.’s outstanding debt to Caradon
Plc of MGBP 18.2 (MCHF 42.4). The acquisition of Geberit Terrain Ltd. was
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the
purchase price was allocated to the fair values of assets and liabilities
acquired, with the residual amount of MCHF 17.2 recorded as goodwill. Man-
agement believes that the acquired operations will complement existing
operations and enhance performance for the foreseeable future and there-
fore has elected to amortise the goodwill over 20 years. For the eleven
months ended 31 December 1999, Geberit Terrain contributed MCHF 67.4 and
MCHF 2.4 to Group total sales and operating profit, respectively. During
1998, Caradon Terrain Ltd. had sales of MGBP 25.5 (MCHF 59.4).

Effective 30 June 1999, the Group increased its ownership of FAE Fluid Air
Energy SA, a producer of water supply pipes located in Givisiez, Switzerland
(“FAE”) from 40% to 70% for a total consideration of MCHF 11.1. Accordingly,
the Group is consolidating FAE from 30 June 1999, and has recorded the
acquired assets and liabilities of FAE at their fair values, as well as goodwill
of MCHF 7.4, which is being amortised over 5 years. During 1999, FAE con-
tributed MCHF 0.4 and MCHF 1.0 to Group total sales and operating profit,
respectively. Additionally, the Group acquired during 1999 at carrying amount
the remaining minority interest in one of its Chinese subsidiaries for MCHF 0.3.

1998
During 1998, the Group established new sales companies in Slovakia and
Singapore and entered into a joint venture in France with Hansgrohe
International GmbH (a German producer of faucets and showers), whereby
each party holds 50% of the share capital of French francs 2 million 
(“JV Hansgrohe Geberit”).

1997
Effective 3 March 1997, the Group entered into a stock purchase agreement
(“the Agreement”) with members of the Gebert family (“Predecessor Share-
holders”). Pursuant the Agreement, the Group was sold to Doughty Hanson
Partnerships and certain co-investors to Doughty Hanson Partnerships
(“Co-Investors”) in a leveraged-buyout transaction (“Leveraged-buyout”).
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Foreign currency translation
The functional currencies of the Group’s subsidiaries are generally the cur-
rencies of the local jurisdiction. Most of the subsidiaries within the European
monetary union adopted the Euro as its functional currency as of the be-
ginning of 1999. Assets and liabilities stated in functional currencies other
than Swiss francs are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
consolidated balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period. Translation gains or losses are
accumulated as a separate component of equity within cumulative transla-
tion adjustments.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate 
of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transaction, or at a rate that
approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction. At the end of
the accounting period, the unsettled balances in foreign currency receiv-
ables and liabilities are valued at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
consolidated balance sheet date, with resulting exchange rate differences
charged to income. Exchange rate differences related to intra-group loans
of a long-term investment nature are recorded as a separate component of
equity within cumulative translation adjustments.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks
and liquid short-term investments with maturities of three months or less
on their acquisition date.

Receivables
Trade and other receivables are carried at anticipated realisable value. An
estimate is made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all out-
standing amounts at year-end. Bad debts are written off during the year in
which they are identified.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost of
raw materials and goods purchased for resale are valued on a weighted
average basis. Provision is made for obsolete and slow-moving inventories.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at purchase or manufacturing
cost less accumulated depreciation. Betterments that increase the useful
lives of the assets, improve the quality of the output or enable a substantial
reduction in operating costs are capitalised and depreciated over the
remaining useful lives. Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method based on the following useful
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lives: buildings (20–50 years), production machinery and assembly lines
(8–15 years), moulds (8 years), equipment (5–20 years) and vehicles 
(4–8 years). Repairs and maintenance are charged to income as incurred. 

Intangible assets and goodwill
The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill, and intangibles such as patents, know-
how, trademarks and software acquired from third parties are stated at 
cost less accumulated amortisation. The amortisation of goodwill and intan-
gible assets is calculated using the straight-line method based upon the
following useful lives: goodwill (5–20 years), patents (3 years), trademarks
(20 years), know-how (3 years) and software (4 years).

Valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
When circumstances affecting the recoverability of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets change, the Group evaluates such assets
for impairment based on expectations of undiscounted cashflows. If
impairment has been determined to have occurred, the Group compares
the estimated cashflows expected to be generated by the asset with 
its carrying value and recognises an impairment charge in the amount of
the excess carrying value.

Deferred financing fees
Financing fees, including net premiums paid on hedge agreements, are
deferred and amortised over the expected life of the related debt instrument,
on a straight-line basis, or if the debt instrument has scheduled principal
repayments, using the bond outstanding method. The amortisation of
deferred financing fees is included in financial income and expenses, net. 

Associated companies and joint ventures
The Group’s share of profits and losses of associated companies (generally
voting rights between 20% and 50%) and joint ventures is included in 
the consolidated income statements in accordance with the equity method
of accounting. All other investments are stated at cost, with adequate
provision for diminution in value of a permanent nature.

Provisions
The Group recognises provisions when it has a present legal or construc-
tive obligation to transfer economic benefits as a result of past events 
and a reasonable estimate of the obligation can be made. The Group war-
rants its products against defects and accrues for such warranties at the
time of sale based upon estimated claims. Actual warranty costs incurred
are charged against the provision when paid.
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Sales and Sales deductions
Sales include the invoiced net amounts after deduction of rebates and are
recognised upon shipment of products to customers. Credit notes issued
subsequently are deducted. 

Sales deductions are recognised when the sales are recorded.

Marketing expenses
All costs associated with advertising and promoting products are expensed
in the financial period during which they are incurred.

Taxes
The consolidated financial statements include direct taxes that are based
on the results of the Group companies and are calculated according to
local tax rules. Deferred taxes are provided on temporary differences
between the value of assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their corre-
sponding values in the consolidated financial statements using the com-
prehensive liability method. Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax rate
expected to apply in the period in which these differences reverse, based
on currently enacted tax rates. Valuation allowances on future tax savings
related to tax loss carry-forwards and other deferred tax assets are recog-
nised only if their realisation is not probable. Provision is made for incre-
mental taxes on only those available earnings of foreign subsidiaries which
are intended to be remitted.

Research and development expenditures
Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred. These
costs are included in personnel expenses, depreciation expense and other
operating expenses, net.

Retirement benefit plans
The Group companies have various defined benefit and defined contribu-
tion pension schemes which comply with applicable laws and customs 
in the respective countries in which the Group operates. For defined benefit
plans, the projected benefit obligations are calculated annually by indepen-
dent actuarial experts using the projected unit credit method based on the
service life, projected salary and pension benefit development and expect-
ed return on pension fund investments. Annual net pension costs are
charged to income in the period incurred. Past service costs, experience
adjustments and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions are amor-
tised over the estimated average remaining service life of plan participants.
Payments to defined contribution plans are based on fixed percentages 
of participant salaries as defined in the respective plan documents and are
charged to income as incurred.
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Employee stock ownership plans
Differences between the fair market value of shares issued and proceeds
received from employees under the Group’s employee stock ownership
plans are recorded within shareholders’ equity. Options issued to employ-
ees under the employee stock ownership plans are generally issued using
market values on the date of grant. 

Earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average num-
ber of ordinary shares issued and outstanding, adjusted for the number 
of shares that could have been acquired at market price (determined as the
average annual share price of the Group’s shares) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding dilutive share options.
These theoretical “unpurchased” shares are added to the weighted aver-
age ordinary shares outstanding by which attributable net income is divided
to calculate diluted earnings per share.

Financial instruments and risk management
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The fair values of
long-term debt and of derivative financial instruments were estimated
based on quotes obtained from brokers for similar instruments or estimat-
ed by discounting the future cash flows using rates currently available to 
the Group for debt instruments with similar terms and remaining maturities.

When necessary under its risk management policies, the Group uses finan-
cial instruments, primarily collars and options, to reduce exposures to mar-
ket risks resulting from fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, principally on the Group’s floating-rate long-term debt, of which a
significant component is denominated in Euro. These instruments are de-
scribed in Note 13 and are accounted for as a hedge of the related asset,
liability or firm commitment when designated and effective as a hedge of
such items. Interest expenses under the interest rate risk management
agreements, and the respective debt instruments they hedge, is recorded
as interest expenses at the effective interest rate of the hedged transac-
tions. Net gains and losses on the revaluation of the Group’s foreign cur-
rency exchange rate risk management instruments and the underlying
hedged transactions are recorded either in equity, if the underlying hedged
transaction generates translation gains or losses, or in financial income 
and expenses, if the hedged transaction generates transaction gains or
losses. Excess portions of instruments which are designated and otherwise
effective as hedges are recorded in the balance sheet at their pro rata fair
value, with the related charge included in financial income and expenses.
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The counterparties to these agreements are major financial institutions 
and the Group does not have significant exposure to anyone counterparty.
Management believes that the risk of loss from these contracts is remote.
The Group does not enter into financial instruments for trading or specula-
tive purposes.

The Group invests its cash in both deposits with major banks throughout
the world and other high quality short-term liquid money market invest-
ments (commercial paper, government and government agency notes and
bills, etc.). The Group has a policy of making investments only with major
credit-worthy commercial institutions. These investments generally mature
within three to six months and the Group has not incurred any related losses.

The Group sells a broad range of products in the sanitary engineering field
throughout the world, but primarily within continental Europe. Concen-
trations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to
the large number of customers comprising the Group’s customer base.
Ongoing credit evaluations of customers’ financial conditions are performed
and, generally, no collateral is required. The Group maintains its provi-
sions for potential credit losses. Such losses, in the aggregate, have not
exceeded management’s expectations.

New accounting standards
Certain revised or new International Accounting Standards came into effect
for the consolidated financial statements for 1999, of which the most
important to the Group was the revised standard on Employee benefits 
(IAS 19, before: Retirement benefit costs; Note 14). 

For the consolidated financial statements for 2000, revised or new Inter-
national Accounting Standards will come into effect in respect of Property,
plant and equipment, Impairment of assets, Provisions, contingent liabili-
ties and contingent assets, Intangible assets and Business combinations,
for 2001 in respect of Financial instruments; recognition and measurement.
The Group is currently studying the potential effects of these standards and
intends to adopt these new standards in the years they are required. The
Group anticipates that of the International Accounting Standards required
for 2000, only the standard on Impairment of assets is expected to affect
the Group, in particular, how the Group determines the impairment of
assets. This standard requires, upon identification of a circumstance indi-
cating impairment, the use of discounted future cash flows to measure
potential impairment, while the Group currently uses undiscounted future
cash flows to measure potential impairment. The Group has not determined
the effect, if any, of this standard.
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4. Trade accounts 
receivable, net

5. Other accounts receivable
and prepaid expenses

The Group expects that the standard on Financial instruments (effective
2001) will affect the accounting for the financial instruments currently used
to hedge the Group’s interest rate and foreign exchange rate exposures.
This standard defines the use of hedging instruments and requires fair value
treatment of those instruments in the financial statements, regardless of
the hedge nature. The Group is currently evaluating the standard and has
not yet determined any impact on their adoption.

Of trade accounts receivable, MCHF 5.6 was denominated in CHF (1998:
MCHF 5.0), MCHF 47.4 was denominated in Euro-currencies (1998: MCHF 33.8)
and MCHF 9.3 was denominated in GBP (1998: MCHF 0.8).

Geberit Terrain and FAE as newly consolidated subsidiaries in 1999 accounted
for MCHF 11.9 of additional trade accounts receivable, net, to the Group.

Income tax refunds receivables

Other tax receivables

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses

1998

MCHF

7.7

10.4

3.1

10.9

32.1

1999

MCHF

2.0

17.3

1.8

8.1

29.2

Trade accounts receivable

Allowance

Total trade accounts receivable, net

1998

MCHF

50.2

(7.6)

42.6

1999

MCHF

75.8

(6.7)

69.1
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6. Inventories, net

7. Property, plant and
equipment, net

Inventories, net of allowances for excess and obsolete items of MCHF 11.6
as of 31 December 1999 (1998: MCHF 11.7) were as follows:

Geberit Terrain and FAE as newly consolidated subsidiaries in 1999
accounted for MCHF 12.9 of additional inventories to the Group.

As of 31 December 1999 buildings were insured at MCHF 422.4 (1998: MCHF

298.8) and equipment at MCHF 559.1 (1998: MCHF 477.0), which amounts to
a total insurance value for property, plant and equipment of MCHF 981.5
(1998: MCHF 775.8).

Cost at beginning of year

Additions

Changes in group organisation (Note 2)

Disposals

Transfers

Translation differences

Cost at end of year

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year

Additions

Disposals

Translation differences

Accumulated depreciation at end of year

Net carrying amounts at end of year

1998 
Total 

MCHF

484.0

67.5

(28.5)

3.1

526.1

42.7

51.1

(25.8)

1.9

69.9

456.2

Land
and 

buildings

MCHF

201.6

10.6

13.4

(0.7)

6.0

1.2

232.1

11.4

7.6

(0.5)  

18.5

213.6

Machinery
and

equipment

MCHF

262.2

51.9

35.2

(20.4)

24.1

1.9

354.9

53.3

48.9

(16.1)

0.6

86.7

268.2

Office 
equipment, 

fixtures and
fittings

MCHF

32.0

7.9

1.1

(5.6)

(3.4)

0.1

32.1

5.2

4.8

(3.6)

6.4

25.7

Assets un
der constr.

+ advanced
payments

MCHF

30.3

4.2

1.5

(26.7)

0.1  

9.4

9.4

1999 
Total 

MCHF

526.1

74.6

51.2

(26.7)

3.3

628.5

69.9

61.3

(20.2)

0.6

111.6

516.9

Movements in 1999
-

Raw materials, supplies and other inventories

Work in progress

Finished goods

Goods purchased for resale

Prepayments to suppliers

Total inventories, net

1998

MCHF

21.2

17.1

40.2

11.7

1.7

91.9

1999

MCHF

27.4

18.5

50.9

12.0

1.9

110.7
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8. Financial assets and other
non-current assets

9. Goodwill and intangible
assets, net

Until 30 June 1999 the consolidated financial statements of the Group
included FAE as associated company (Note 2).

MCHF 428.2 of total goodwill, net, as of 31 December 1999 resulted from
the Leveraged-buyout. The amortisation period is twenty years. The
remaining MCHF 24.8, net, resulted from the acquisitions of Prosan d.o.o. 
in 1997 (MCHF 1.7, amortisation period 5 years), Geberit Terrain Ltd. in 
1999 (MCHF 16.4, amortisation period 20 years) and FAE in 1999 (MCHF 6.7,
amortisation period 5 years).

Cost at beginning of year

Changes in group organisation (Note 2)

Additions

Disposals

Fair value adjustment

Translation differences

Cost at end of year

Accumulated amortisation at beginning of year

Additions

Disposals

Translation differences

Accumulated amortisation at end of year 

Net carrying amounts at end of year

1998 
Total 

MCHF

741.2

(4.3)

736.9

54.1

64.2

118.3

618.6

Goodwill

MCHF

502.6

25.0

527.6

47.4

27.2

74.6

453.0

Patents 
and 

know-how

MCHF

95.1

95.1

58.1

31.7

89.8

5.3

Trademarks
and other
intangible

assets

MCHF

139.2

0.3

3.5

(0.1)

(0.4)

142.5

12.8

6.9

(0.1)

0.2

19.8

122.7

1999 
Total 

MCHF

736.9

0.3

28.5

(0.1)

(0.4)

765.2

118.3

65.8

(0.1)

0.2

184.2

581.0

Movements in 1999 

Prepaid pension asset (Note 14)

Deferred financing fees, net

Deferred tax assets

Investments in associated companies

Deposits

Other

Total financial assets and other non-current assets

1998

MCHF

76.9

25.7

10.4

5.3

6.0

3.9

128.2

1999

MCHF

79.3

11.8

10.9

0.9

5.8

4.3

113.0
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10. Short-term borrowings

11. Other current provisions 
and liabilities

Of the total of MCHF 65.8 of amortisation for the period (1998: MCHF 64.2),
MCHF 63.6 relate to the Leveraged-buyout. After tax the total figure amounts
to MCHF 56.8 (1998: MCHF 54.6).

Fair value adjustment includes subsequent adjustments of the purchase
accounting in connection with the Leveraged-buyout and the related
calculation of the goodwill.

Under the Working Capital Facility, the Group maintains an overdraft line-
of-credit to fund corporate working capital requirements totalling MCHF

50.0 of available credit. In addition it maintains various smaller lines with
various lenders which together total MCHF 0.6 (“the Local Facilities”). The
Group considers borrowing under the Working Capital Facility and the
Local Facilities to be short-term in nature, and accordingly, includes these
borrowings in short-term borrowings. 

The Working Capital Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus an interest margin
of 0.875% per annum. Interest is payable at the maturity of a revolving
advance, which can have terms of one, two, three or six months or such
other period as the lender may agree to. Furthermore, a commitment 
fee is paid equal to one-half of the applicable margin, which was 0.4375%
as of 31 December 1999, on the unused portion on such facility.

During 1998, the Working Capital Facility consisted of a MCHF 75.0 revolving
facility.

At 31 December 1999 and 1998 there were short-term borrowings outstand-
ing of MCHF 0.6 and MCHF 10.3, respectively. The weighted average annual
interest rates on these borrowings during the year ended 31 December
1999 and 1998 were 9.04% and 4.65%, respectively. 

Compensation related liabilities and provisions

Accrued interest

Accrued customer volume discounts

Other 

Total other current provisions and liabilities

1998

MCHF

27.3

9.9

15.9

11.0

64.1

1999

MCHF

32.5

0.4

20.6

13.0

66.5
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12. Long-term debt

In connection with the financing of the Leveraged-buyout, GISA and Geberit
Holding AG, a subsidiary of GISA, entered into a multi-currency senior facili-
ty agreement, dated as of 1 March 1997 (“the Old Senior Credit Agree-
ment”), with the underwriting banks named therein. The Old Senior Credit
Agreement consisted of (i) a MCHF 620.0 seven year amortising term loan, (ii)
a MCHF 100.0 eight year term loan (together the “Old Senior Facilities”) 
and (iii) a MCHF 75.0 seven year revolving facility (Note 10). The Old Senior
Facilities bore interest at one, two, three or six month LIBOR for the respec-
tive currency plus interest margins of 1.25% to 2.5% per annum. During
1998, the effective interest rate on the Old Senior Facilities was 4.75%.

In connection with the planning for the IPO (Note 19) the Group entered into
a senior facility agreement, dated 18 May 1999, with underwriting banks
named therein (“the Banks”). The facilities consist of (i) a MCHF 500.0, five
year amortising loan (Term A), (ii) a MEUR 65.0, five year amortising loan
(Term B), (iii) a MEUR 30.0, five year amortising loan (Term C) (together
referred to as the “Senior Facilities”) and (iv) a MCHF 50.0, five year revolv-
ing credit facility (“the Working Capital Facility”, Note 10). The Senior Facili-
ties were borrowed in Swiss francs and Euro, and the Working Capital
Facility is available in such freely convertible currencies as the Banks may
agree. 45% of the Senior Facilities are payable in semi-annual payments 
on 30 June and 31 December, the remaining 55% at final maturity on May
2004. The first payment was made on 30 December 1999. They bear inter-
est at one, two, three or six-month EURIBOR for Euro advances or LIBOR

for any other currency plus an initial interest margin of 1% per annum.
Commencing 30 July 1999 the interest margin was reduced to 0.875% per
annum. During 1999, the effective interest rate on the Senior Facilities 
was 3.87%. 
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Senior Facilities

Term A Loan

Term B Loan

Term C Loan

Old Senior Facilities

10.125% Senior Subordinated Notes

8.0% Junior Subordinated Notes

Other long-term debt 

Total

Short-term portion of long term debt

Long-term debt

1998

MCHF

503.7

129.5

151.2

7.0  

791.4

(40.5)

750.9

1999

MCHF

477.1

96.7

44.7

7.8

15.9

642.2

(68.5)

573.7
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The Senior Facilities were used to refinance the Old Senior Facilities at a
total amount of MCHF 496.2, including all outstanding interest and fees,
and together with the proceeds from the IPO, to repurchase the MDEM 160.0,
8.0% junior notes due 2007 (“the Junior Notes”), to redeem 93.2% of the
10.125% senior notes due 2007 (“the Senior Notes”) tendered as at 29 June
1999 and to repurchase the preference shares of GISA (Note 19). The pur-
chase consideration for the Senior Notes was calculated at a blended price
of 116.8% (“the Blended Price”) which was calculated under the terms of
the Senior Notes indenture plus accrued and unpaid interest. Included in
the Blended Price were DEM 30 per DEM 1,000 principal which was paid to
each note holder who responded affirmatively to the consent solicitation 
on or prior to 1 June 1999. Between 30 June 1999 and 31 December 1999
the Group purchased for cash another MDEM 1.14 principal of the Senior
Notes at a blended price of 113.7%. The Junior Notes, which were issued
to members of the Gebert family in connection with the Leveraged-buyout,
were purchased at par plus accrued interest at a total amount of MDEM

191.1 (MCHF 156.9). Costs associated with the refinancing of the Old Senior
Facilities, the redemption of the Senior Notes and the repurchase of the
Junior Notes, including premiums paid, tender costs and other fees of MCHF

21.7, and the write-off of the remaining deferred financing fees attributable
to the refinanced or repaid debt of MCHF 14.3 are recorded as debt extin-
guishment costs in the consolidated income statement. 

Borrowings under the Senior Facilities are secured by guarantees from
Geberit AG, Geberit Holding AG and Geberit Verwaltungs GmbH, and con-
tain a number of covenants and conditions typical to senior financing,
including among others the achievement of certain financial targets and
ratios.

At 31 December 1999, the Group has outstanding MCHF 15.9 of other
interest-bearing long-term debt (1998: MCHF 7.0). These borrowings incur
interest at a weighted average rate of 4.76% (1998: 6.71%) and are due 
at various dates. 

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt for the next five years are as follows:

2000

2001

2002

2003 

2004 and thereafter

Total

MCHF

68.5

67.0

67.0

66.0

373.7

642.2
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13. Financial instruments

At 31 December 1999, the fair value of the total debts of the Group was
MCHF 643.3 (1998: MCHF 816.3). Of the debt outstanding as of 31 Decem-
ber 1999, approximately MCHF 423.0 was denominated in Euro (1998:
MCHF 514.3).

Where necessary under the Group’s risk management policy, the Group
enters into derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign
currency exchange rate risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s risk man-
agement policy and the accounting policies for the Group’s derivative finan-
cial instruments are disclosed in Note 3. At 31 December 1999 and 1998,
the following derivative financial instruments were outstanding:

Foreign currency exchange rate instruments
The Group hedges a portion of the foreign currency exchange rate risk asso-
ciated with its long-term debt denominated in Euro principally with pur-
chased foreign currency options (in Deutsche mark). No net premium was paid
or received in connection with these options. The options are designed to (i)
lock-in a portion of unrealised currency translation gains earned through
31 December 1997 and (ii) to collar future exchange rate movements on the
debt within designated exchange rate bands. The options expire in February
2002, but can be sold by the Group at fair market value at an earlier date.
These instruments are summarised as follows:

These deferred gains and losses on foreign currency exchange rate
instruments offset the related translation losses and gains on the Euro
denominated debt being hedged. The net impact of the transactions is
reflected in cumulative translation adjustments within equity.
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Deutsche mark call/Swiss Franc put

Deutsche mark call/Swiss Franc put

Deutsche mark put/Swiss Franc call

Deutsche mark put/Swiss Franc call

Strike
price

0.7960

0.7930

0.7200

0.6565

Contract
amount

Buy (Sell)

MDEM

200

100

(300)

300

Estimated
fair 

value

MCHF

5.2

2.2

(1.5)

0.2

1998
Strike
price

0.7960

0.7930

0.7200

0.6565

Contract
amount

Buy (Sell)

MDEM

200

100

(300)

300

Estimated
fair 

value

MCHF

2.7

1.3

(0.5)

0.1

1999
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14. Retirement benefit plans

Interest rate instruments
The Group hedges interest rate risk on its floating rate debt (Note 12) with 
a purchased interest rate collar, for which a net premium was paid. The collar
expires on 1 March 2001. The collar serves to limit the Group’s interest rate
exposure by reducing the possible impact of movements in interest rates.
The contract amount of the collar is reduced by scheduled repayments on
the underlying floating-rate debt. The instruments included in the collar are
summarised as follows:

Interest expenses under these agreements, and the respective debt instru-
ments that they hedge, are recorded at the net effective interest rate of the
hedged transactions in financial income and expenses.

As a result of voluntary prepayments made by the Group, the net contract
amount of the collar exceeds the outstanding debt that it hedges. Accord-
ingly, the Group has recorded income of MCHF 1.0 for the year ended 31
December 1999 and expenses of MCHF 1.1 in 1998 to record the change in
fair value of the excess portion of the collar at 31 December 1999 and
1998. These amounts were recorded within financial income and expenses.

The Group sponsors defined benefit and defined contribution plans for 
its employees in certain countries, of which the most significant plans are
in Switzerland and Germany. Most of the plans are defined benefit plans
and are either funded or unfunded. The assets of the funded plans are held
independently of the Group’s assets in separate trustee administered
funds, and are principally invested in marketable securities and real estate.
For its significant defined benefit pension schemes, net periodic pension
cost included in the net income for the year 1999 and 1998 includes the fol-
lowing components:

Interest rate caps

Interest rate floors

Interest rate caps

Interest rate floors

Interest
rate

in %

3.00

2.00

4.50

3.75

Contract
amount net

of repay-
ments

MCHF 364.9

MCHF 364.9

MDEM 349.1

MDEM 349.1

Estimated
fair 

value

MCHF

0.8

(2.5)

0.1

(3.3)

1998
Interest

rate
in %

3.00

2.00

4.50

3.75

Contract
amount net

of repay-
ments

MCHF 337.2

MCHF 337.2

MDEM 326.8

MDEM 326.8

Estimated
fair 

value

MCHF

0.6

(0.7)

0.3

(0.5)

1999
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The following table sets forth the status of the significant defined benefit
pension plans and the amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated
balance sheet at 31 December 1999 and 1998:

Pension assets and obligations are predominately non-current. Prepaid
pension assets include the overfunded part of the Swiss pension plans,
adjusted for unrecognised prior service cost as well as unrecognised net
gains and losses.
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Service cost

Interest on projected benefit obligation

Expected return on plan assets

Net amortisation and deferral

Net periodic pension cost

1998

MCHF

5.0

14.2

(13.8)

0.7

6.1

1999

MCHF

7.6

12.3

(14.1)

0.8

6.6

Benefit obligation

At beginning of year

Service cost on benefits earned

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation

Contributions of plan participants

Change of assumptions

Impact of Austrian curtailment

Benefits paid

Benefit obligation at end of year

Plan assets at fair value

At beginning of year

Actual return on plan assets

Contributions of plan participants

Benefits paid

Plan assets at fair value at end of year

Funded status at end of year

Unrecognised prior service cost

Unrecognised Transition (asset) / obligation

Unrecognised net (gains) and losses

Accrued pension cost at 31 December

Accrued pension cost at 31 December is comprised of

Prepaid pension asset

Accrued pension obligation

Accrued pension cost at 31 December

1998

MCHF

247.8

9.8

14.2

(4.8)

13.9

(13.7)

267.2

250.7

13.8

4.8

(13.7)

255.6

(11.6)

8.4

1.8

(1.4)

76.9

(78.3)

(1.4)

1999

MCHF

267.2

12.0

12.3

(4.4)

(1.6)

(7.2)

(11.3)

267.0

255.6

18.8

4.4

(11.3)

267.5

0.5

5.6

(8.3)

(2.2)

79.3

(81.5)

(2.2)
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15. Employee stock 
ownership plans

The Group has unfunded defined benefit plans. The most significant of
these plans are included and analysed above. The projected benefit obliga-
tion of these and other, minor unfunded plans is MCHF 84.6 at 31 Decem-
ber 1999 and MCHF 83.1 at 31 December 1998, and is included, net of
unrecognised items, in the accrued pension obligation in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Weighted average assumptions are as follows (in %):

Effective 1 January 1999, the Group adopted the revised IAS 19 standard.
There is an estimated net transition liability of MCHF 6.4. The Group started
charging the transition loss of MCHF 6.8 over five years to personnel ex-
penses beginning 1 January 1999 and recognised immediately in 1999 the
transition gain of MCHF 0.4 within the income statement in accordance 
with the transition provisions of the standard.

In connection with the IPO the Group introduced a leveraged management
participation plan (“LMPP”) in which specified senior group managers,
managing directors and executive directors could participate. The shares
purchased pursuant to the LMPP will remain non-transferable until June
2004. Afterwards they may be retained or sold. One hundred and fourteen
employees participated in the LMPP and purchased a number of 34,568
shares at an aggregate amount of MCHF 11.4. Each share purchased 
by the participants in the LMPP at the public offering issue price provided
the participants with options to acquire three additional shares. 
As at 31 December 1999 the status was as set forth in the table below:

All such options will lapse if not exercised in June 2004 or if an employee
leaves the Group within the blocking period.

Option vesting date

June 2001

June 2002

June 2003

Strike Price

CHF

330.00

346.50

363.00

(100% of public offering price)

(105% of public offering price)

(110% of public offering price)

Number

33 956

33 956

33 956

Discount rate used in determining present values

Annual rate of increase in future compensation levels

Expected rate of future increases in pension benefits

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

1998

4.0–6.5

2.0–3.0

0.0–3.0

5.5

1999

4.0–6.0

2.0–3.0

0.0–3.0

5.5
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Also in connection with the IPO the Group offered another employee share
ownership incentive plan (“EMPP”), whereby substantially all permanent
employees had the opportunity to purchase shares at a discount of 15%
from the public offering price up to an amount of 20% of their annual
salary. All such shares are non-transferable for a period of two years from
the IPO date. Afterwards they may be retained or sold. At the end of 
the blocking period, all EMPP participants still working with the Group will
be entitled to a cash bonus. The size of the cash bonus depends on the
market price of the shares at that time and is calculated as set forth in the
table below:

If the market price of the shares at the end of the two-year period is less
than the price per share (less the discount) paid by the EMPP participants,
the Group will pay an amount equal to the difference between the market
price at that date and the employee’s original cash investment, so as to
guarantee up to a maximum of CHF 10,000 of each employee’s cash invest-
ment (“the Security Payment”).

As of 31 December 1999 a total of 2,062 employees with 51,376 shares
participated in the EMPP, which represents an actual cash exposure of
MCHF 3.4 considering the share price as of 31 December 1999.

The Group will record the impact of the EMPP cash bonus or the Security
Payment in the consolidated income statement when such payments
become probable and can be reasonably estimated, which is expected to
be at the end of the two year period.

In connection with the Leveraged-buyout, certain members of the manage-
ment received performance-related options to acquire for CHF 10 per share
up to an aggregate of 273,000 GISA shares representing 5% of GISA’s
existing ordinary shares from other shareholders. These options have been
exercised in connection with the IPO in 1999.
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Share price at the end of the two-year period

Less than 120% of public offering price

Equal to or above 120%, but less than 125%,
of public offering price

Equal to or above 125%, but less than 135%,
of public offering price 

Equal to or above 135% of 
public offering price

Bonus payable

No bonus

5% of 
public offering price

10% of
public offering price

20% of 
public offering price
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16. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities

17. Other non-current 
provisions and liabilities

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the deferred income tax
charges and credits are attributable to the following items:

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been established for the with-
holding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earn-
ings of certain foreign subsidiaries, as such amounts are currently not
anticipated to be remitted to the parent. These unremitted earnings totalled
MCHF 3.8 at 31 December 1999 (1998: MCHF 3.6).

Loss carry-forwards for which no deferred tax assets were recognised
amounted to MCHF 20.8 (1998: MCHF 15.1).

Provisions mainly include provisions for warranties. 

Deferred tax assets

Loss carry-forwards

Accrued pension obligation

Other

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Inventories

Property, plant and equipment 

Prepaid pension assets

Intangible assets 

Provisions, reserves and other

Total deferred tax liabilities

1998 
Total 

MCHF

2.4

2.5

5.5

10.4

(4.1)

(73.1)

(20.1)

(21.9)

(21.3)

(140.5)

(Charged)/
credited to

income

MCHF

(1.0)

(0.1)

(1.1)

(2.2)

0.3

(0.7)

0.2

9.3

5.1

14.2

Translation
differences

MCHF

0.1

0.1

0.2

Other
(Note 2)

MCHF

2.7

2.7

(3.2)

(0.5)

(3.7)

Movements in 19991997 
Total 

MCHF

1.0

3.0

6.2

10.2

(4.2)

(75.1)

(19.7)

(31.5)

(22.6)

(153.1)

(Charged)/
credited to

income

MCHF

1.3

(0.6)

(0.6)

0.1

0.1

2.6

(0.4)

9.6

0.9

12.8

Translation
differences

MCHF

0.1

0.1

(0.1)

0.1

(0.6)

(0.6)

(1.2)

Other
(Note 2)

MCHF

0.0

1.0

1.0

Movements in 1998 1999 
Total 

MCHF

1.4

2.4

7.1

10.9

(3.8)

(76.9)

(19.9)

(12.6)

(16.6)

(129.8)

Provisions

Accrued grant payments

Liability to shareholders 

Other 

Total other non-current provisions and liabilities

1998

MCHF

12.3

1.9

2.2

8.7

25.1

1999

MCHF

9.9

1.5

2.9

14.3
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18. Commitments and 
contingencies

19. Shareholders’ equity

The Group has entered into firm commitments for capital expenditures of
MCHF 7.5 at 31 December 1999 (1998: MCHF 19.9).

The Group is involved in certain legal proceedings arising in the normal course
of business. The Group believes that none of these proceedings either in-
dividually or in the aggregate are likely to have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s financial position or results of operations. The Group has estab-
lished insurance policies to cover certain product liabilities and it accrues
for potential product warranty claims.

The Group is also subject to various environmental laws and regulations in
the jurisdictions in which it operates. In the normal course of business, 
the Group incurs, and will continue to incur, capital and operating expendi-
tures and other costs in complying with such laws and regulations in most
of the countries in which it operates. The Group does not currently antici-
pate any material capital expenditures for environmental control technology
outside the normal course of its business. Some risk of environmental lia-
bility is inherent in the Group’s business, and there can be no assurance
that material environmental costs will not arise in the future. However, the
Group does not anticipate any material adverse effect on its results of
operations or financial position as a result of future costs of environmental
compliance.

The Group operates in many countries, most of which have sophisticated
tax regimes. The nature of its operations, and the significant reorganisations
that have taken place in recent years, result in the Group’s and its sub-
sidiaries’ tax affairs being complex. The Group believes that it performs its
business in accordance with the local tax laws. However, it is possible 
that there are areas where potential disputes with the various tax authorities
could arise in the future. The Group is not aware of any current disputes
that either individually or in the aggregate could likely have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s financial position or results of operations.

In connection with the IPO, Geberit AG, the new parent company of the Group,
was incorporated on 26 April 1999 with an initial share capital of MCHF 0.1
(2,000 shares with a par value of CHF 50 each). These shares were sub-
sequently split into 5,000 fully paid-in registered shares with a par value of
CHF 20 each. As part of the reorganisation in connection with the IPO,
Geberit AG increased its share capital by issuing 2,730,006 fully paid-in
registered shares with a par value of CHF 20 each. In consideration for these
newly issued shares, Geberit AG received by way of contribution in kind 
all ordinary shares of CHF 10 par value each of Geberit International SA, the
previous parent company, and all shares of Geberit Ltd. (the parent of
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Geberit Terrain Ltd.). At an extraordinary general shareholders’ meeting of
Geberit AG at 21 June 1999 (“the Shareholders’ Meeting”), the share capital
of Geberit AG was increased by 1,424,994 shares to a total of 4,160,000
shares with a par value of CHF 20 each, of which 1,424,994 shares were sold
by the Group in the IPO. The net proceeds from these newly issued shares
were MCHF 446.5, net of offering costs of MCHF 23.8, net of tax. The newly
issued shares are entitled to dividends in respect of the entire fiscal year
1999. Furthermore the Shareholders’ Meeting resolved a share capital increase
by conditional capital in the amount of up to CHF 3,328,000 divided into
166,400 shares of par value CHF 20 each. These shares are expected to be
issued in future years in connection with the Group’s current and contem-
plated employee stock ownership plans. In anticipation of share issuances
under these plans, Geberit AG holds at 31 December 1999 5,021 of its
shares in treasury, with a total value of MCHF 2.5. Treasury shares are record-
ed at cost within shareholders’ equity.

The proceeds from the IPO were used together with the borrowings under
the Senior Facilities (Note 12), to repurchase the 5,453,334 GISA-preference
shares (with a par value of CHF 10 each) from their holders at a total price
of MCHF 280.7 (including accumulated dividends previously undeclared 
of MCHF 35.3). Furthermore, Geberit AG purchased the 8.0% Junior Subor-
dinated Notes due 2007 of MDEM 191.1 (including accrued interest) and
redeemed all but MEUR 4.8 of the 10.125% Senior Subordinated Notes due
2007.

In conjunction with the Leveraged-buyout, certain of the Predecessor
Shareholders acquired a 10.1% voting power of the Group. In performing
the allocation of the purchase price, the Group recorded the assets and 
the liabilities at fair value, less a factor for the share of the continuing
Predecessor Shareholders in the net assets of the Group which continues
to be recorded at its historical basis. Accordingly, this adjustment, which 
is permanent in nature, has been recorded to decrease equity as a distribu-
tion in excess of predecessor basis.

-
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20. Earnings per share

Shares
As of 31 December 1999, the following table shows shareholders, holding
in excess of 5% of the share capital.

Each share carries one vote at a shareholders’ meeting of the Group.
Voting power may be exercised only after a shareholder has been registered
in the share register of Geberit AG as a shareholder with voting power. 
Treasury shares do not have voting rights.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable
to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares issued and outstanding during the year, excluding the weighted
average number of ordinary shares purchased by the Group and held as
treasury shares. In connection with the reorganisation, the 2:1 share split of
5,460,000 shares of Geberit International SA in 2,730,000 registered shares
of Geberit AG is considered for all periods presented.
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Owner

Doughty Hanson Partnerships and Co-Investors

Klaus Gebert Heirs

% of 
registered

shares

15.66

8.23

Number of shares issued (thousands)

At 1 January 1998 (GISA)

At 31 December 1998 (GISA)

Issue of shares (adjusted for split)

Contribution of shares

Issue of shares to third parties

Repurchase of preference shares

Purchase of own ordinary shares

At 31 December 1999 (Geberit AG)

Ordinary
shares

GISA

5460

5460

(5460)

Registered
shares

Geberit AG

2735

1425

4160

Preference
shares

GISA

5453

5453

(5453)

Treasury
shares

Geberit AG

5

5

Net income according to income statement (MCHF)

Dividends on preference shares (MCHF)

Net income attributable to shareholders (MCHF)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)

Basic earnings per share (CHF)

1999

54.3

(8.0)

46.3

3483

13.29

1998

37.4

(15.4)

22.0

2730

8.06



Geberit Group

For the diluted earnings per share the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares (Note 3). The Group has share options granted to employees
which qualify as potentially dilutive ordinary shares.

For the calculation of adjusted earnings per share total amortisation of
goodwill and intangible assets, net of tax, debt extinguishment costs, net
of tax, and dividend payments on preference shares for the related period
are not included in the net profit attributable to shareholders. The number
of shares for 1999 are based on the post-IPO status.
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21. Sales deductions

Early payment discounts

Outbound freight costs

Customer volume discounts

Other 

Total sales deductions

1998

MCHF

33.1

23.7

54.0

9.6

120.4

1999

MCHF

37.2

31.0

64.9

10.6

143.7

1998

22.0

2730

2730

8.06

Net income attributable to shareholders used to
determine diluted earnings per share (MCHF)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)

Adjustments for share options (thousands)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
for diluted earnings per share (thousands)

Diluted earnings per share (CHF)

1999

46.3

3483

10

3493

13.26

1998

37.4

54.6

92.0

2730

33.70

Net income according to income statement (MCHF)

Total amortisation, net of tax (MCHF)

Debt extinguishment cost, net of tax (MCHF)

Net income attributable to shareholders (MCHF)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)

Adjusted earnings per share (CHF)

1999

54.3

56.8

25.5

136.6

4160

32.84



Total other operating expenses include other operating expenses less other
operating income. 

Other operating expenses, net, consisted of the following:

Other operating income includes, among others, compensation for postage
and packaging, rental income and catering revenues.

In 1999 costs of MCHF 10.8 (1998: MCHF 12.2) were capitalised as property,
plant and equipment, including in particular tools and fixtures which are
part of the production process. The amount was deducted from personnel
expenses, cost of materials and other operating expenses, net.

Debt extinguishment costs of MCHF 36.0 (net of tax benefits: MCHF 25.5) 
in connection with the refinancing process of the IPO are shown outside 
of financial income and (expenses) as a separate line item within the consol-
idated income statements. They include a MCHF 14.3 write-off of deferred
financing fees and MCHF 21.7 of premium paid in conjunction with the
repurchase of the Senior Notes.

65

Profits of associated companies

Interest income

Interest expenses

Amortisation of deferred financing fees

Exchange gains, net

Other financial income

Other financial expenses

Total financial income and (expenses), net

1998

MCHF

0.6

3.3

(53.7)

(9.8)

2.3

0.1

(2.2)

(59.4)

1999

MCHF

0.4

2.2

(37.2)

(6.6)

4.4

0.1

(1.2)

(37.9)

22. Other operating 
expenses, net

23. Financial income and
expenses, net

Energy and maintenance expenses

Marketing expenses

Administration expenses

Other operating expenses

Other operating income

Total other operating expenses, net

1998

MCHF

33.0

26.6

44.1

7.9

(20.7)

90.9

1999

MCHF

42.0

31.2

55.5

10.5

(19.5)

119.7



Geberit Group

The components of income tax expense were as follows:

The differences between income tax expenses computed at the weighted
average applicable rate of the Group of 35.2% (1998: 38.2%) and income
tax expenses provided on earnings were as follows:

The Group has loss carry-forwards available for future tax periods. Loss
carry-forwards amounted to MCHF 24.5 at 31 December 1999 (1998:
MCHF 22.6). Of this amount, MCHF 19.2 (1998: MCHF 16.5) expire over the
next six years.

Net cashflow is calculated from:

The position changes in long-term provisions includes the changes in
deferred tax liabilities, provisions for operating risks and accrued pension
costs, charged or credited to net income. The position changes in 
other long-term assets includes the changes in prepaid pension assets 
and deferred financing fees, charged or credited to net income.
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24. Income tax expense

25. Cashflow figures

Income tax expenses, at applicable rate

Utilisation of loss carry-forwards

Operating losses with no current tax benefit

Changes in tax rates

Non-deductible expenses including goodwill amortisation

Other

Income tax expenses

1998

MCHF

30.9

(1.2)

1.1

(1.0)

13.7

(0.2)

43.3

1999

MCHF

36.5

(1.6)

1.3

(3.2)

13.6

1.1

47.7

Net income

Depreciation expense

Amortisation of goodwill and other intangible assets

Changes in long-term provisions

Changes in other long-term assets

Net cashflow

1998

MCHF

37.4

51.1

64.2

(8.7)

8.1

152.1

1999

MCHF

54.3

61.3

65.8

(13.6)

18.6

186.4

Current taxes

Deferred taxes

Total income tax expenses

1998

MCHF

56.2

(12.9)

43.3

1999

MCHF

59.7

(12.0)

47.7



Free cashflow is calculated from:

The term “Free cashflow” is using the Group’s definition which excludes
the impact of divestment or acquisition of subsidiaries, the purchase and
sale of treasury shares and dividend payments.

Changes in net working capital comprise the changes in the aggregate of
trade accounts receivable, net, inventories, and other accounts receivable
and prepaid expenses, less the aggregate of trade accounts payable and
other accruals and current liabilities, charged or credited to net income.

“Net cashflow” or “Free cashflow” are no substitute for figures which result
from the consolidated income statements and from the consolidated
statement of cashflows but they may give an indication about the capability
of the Group to generate cash, to pay back debts, to finance acquisitions,
to buy back shares and to pay dividends.

The Group consists of a single business segment: the design, manufacture
and sale of sanitary plumbing systems to the residential and commercial
construction industry. The business segment is divided into six geographi-
cal regions.

The segment “Other European core markets” includes Austria, Great
Britain, The Netherlands, Belgium and France. All other European markets
are summarised in the segment “Other European markets”. 

The segment “Other markets” includes principally the USA and China. The
segment “Corporate Functions” consists in particular of Geberit Holding AG

and Geberit International AG as the central management companies, and
the research and development company Geberit Technik AG.

Balance sheet and profit information are allocated to the six geographical
segments in accordance with the jurisdiction where the assets and
liabilities lay and the profits are generated.
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26. Segment information

Net cashflow

Purchase of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment
and intangible assets

Changes in net working capital

Free cashflow

1998

MCHF

152.1

(67.5)

3.8

25.6

114.0

1999

MCHF

186.4

(78.1)

5.0

(5.3)

108.0



Geberit Group

The Group considers operating profit before amortisation to be the seg-
ment result. Group companies principally account for inter-segment sales
on the “market-minus” method.

Balance sheet information on the corporate functions include unallocated
assets and liabilities of the Group which consist of cash and cash equivalents,
goodwill, income tax assets and liabilities, certain intangible assets and
financial assets and liabilities. Inter-company transactions have been elimi-
nated in the column “Eliminations”.
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1999

Sales intersegment

Sales external 

Operating profit before amortisation (EBITA)

Amortisation expense

Financial income and (expenses), net

Debt extinguishment costs

Income tax expenses

Minority interest, net of tax

Net income

Capital expenditure

Depreciation expense

1998

Sales intersegment

Sales external 

Operating profit before amortisation (EBITA)

Amortisation expense

Financial income and (expenses), net

Income tax expenses

Minority interest, net of tax

Net income

Capital expenditure

Depreciation expense

Switzerland

MCHF

163.3

144.8

53.9

20.4

21.0

145.8

139.3

46.4

15.6

20.1

Germany

MCHF

149.1

506.1

118.3

36.4

19.3

113.5

478.5

104.5

34.0

16.0

Italy

MCHF

8.5

169.2

17.7

3.9

2.7

8.2

147.1

12.9

2.5

3.3

Other
European

core
markets

MCHF

70.8

262.4

30.7

10.3

13.1

63.4

185.8

24.5

7.5

6.2

Other
European

markets

MCHF

5.2

74.5

2.8

3.7

1.7

9.8

57.1

2.0

3.3

1.6

Other 
markets

MCHF

0.2

33.7

(3.4)

1.5

1.2

24.4

(3.2)

2.0

1.1

Corporate
functions

MCHF

5.0

22.2

1.9

2.3

3.9

17.5

2.6

2.8

Total

MCHF

1190.7

242.2

65.8

(37.9)

36.0

47.7

0.5

54.3

78.1

61.3

1032.2

204.6

64.2

(59.4)

43.3

0.3

37.4

67.5

51.1



Balance sheet information was as follows:

In conjunction with entering into the Agreement, the Group entered into 
a call option agreement with the owner of the residual 0.5% minority interest
in the German subsidiary to purchase the remaining interest in that sub-
sidiary. The call option expires on 12 March 2002. The Group also entered
into a put option agreement with the owner effective from 13 March 2002
through 12 June 2002 if the Group does not exercise the call. The purchase
price for the minority interest under either option as of 31 December 1999
is MCHF 3.6 (1998: MCHF 3.7). As of 31 December 1999 the value of the
minority interest amounts to MCHF 5.1 (1998: MCHF 5.0). At 31 December
1999 the fair value of the call option approximated MCHF 1.5 (1998: MCHF

1.3). The Group currently intends to execute the call option.

The Group purchased pipes from FAE, which until 30 June 1999 was an
associated company, for use in its sanitary systems. The Group owned FAE’s
production facility and a portion of its machinery, for which it received
monthly lease payments. In addition, the Group charged FAE for a portion
of its research and development investment related to FAE technology.
Effective 30 June 1999, the Group consolidates FAE (Note 2).
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27. Related party transactions

1999

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

1998

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

Switzerland

MCHF

304.1

54.4

278.1

41.3

Germany

MCHF

263.3

139.5

272.5

138.1

Italy

MCHF

69.8

29.2

77.2

23.8

Other
European

core 
markets

MCHF

185.0

49.9

115.8

26.7

Other
European

markets

MCHF

30.2

14.5

23.3

11.5

Other
markets

MCHF

23.4

5.4

19.4

4.9

Corporate
functions

MCHF

1107.7

1191.9

1089.3

1352.4

Elimi
nations

MCHF

(437.3)

(437.2)

(407.0)

(407.1)

Total

MCHF

1546.2

1047.6

1468.6

1191.6

-
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The following is a summary of significant related party transactions which
are included in the consolidated income statements and the consolidated
balance sheets of the Group:

The following exchange rates were used for the consolidated financial
statements for the years 1999 and 1998:
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28. Foreign exchange rates

Income/Expenses

Purchases from FAE

Lease income from FAE

Interest on Junior Notes payable to Predecessor Shareholders

Sales commissions to JV Hansgrohe Geberit

1998

MCHF

17.7

1.2

5.6

2.7

1999

MCHF

10.8

0.8

2.9

5.5

Assets/Liabilities

Accounts payable to FAE

Accounts payable to JV Hansgrohe Geberit

Junior Notes payable to Predecessor Shareholders

Shareholder payables

1998

MCHF

2.2

1.0

75.6

5.1

1999

MCHF

1.1

2.6

Currency

Austria ATS 100

Belgium BEF 100

Germany DEM 100

EUR 1

France FRF 100

Great Britain GBP 1

Italy ITL 1000

Netherlands NLG 100

Poland PLN 100

Slovenia SIT 100

USA USD 1

Balance
Sheet

11.68

3.98

82.21

24.51

2.29

0.83

72.96

39.43

0.85

1.38

1998
Income

Statement

11.71

3.99

82.37

24.57

2.40

0.84

73.07

41.62

0.87

1.45

Balance
Sheet

1.61

2.58

0.83

38.58

0.81

1.60

1999
Income

Statement

1.60

2.43

0.83

37.92

0.82

1.50



As at 14 February 2000 (“Grant Date”) the members of the executive board
and the managing directors of the subsidiaries of the Group were granted
options to acquire shares according to the regulations of the Management
Stock Option Plan (“MSOP Options”). The valuation of the MSOP Options as
at the Grant Date was based on a price for the shares of CHF 541 (“Basic
Share Price”). The duration of the MSOP Options is five years starting from
the Grant Date. In addition they are subject to the following knock-in con-
ditions:

Type A:
The average closing price of the shares on the Swiss exchange during 
the last two months before the end of the two year blocking period is 110%
(CHF 595) or higher compared to the Basic Share Price.

Type B:
The average closing price of the shares on the Swiss exchange during the
last two months before the end of the four year blocking period is 120%
(CHF 649) or higher compared to the Basic Share Price.

The specified strike prices for the MSOP Options are as set forth in the
table below:

All MSOP Options will lapse if (i) after the end of the blocking period the
knock-in conditions are not met, (ii) if they are not exercised until the 
end of the duration (i.e. the fifth anniversary of the Grant Date) or (iii) if a
participant leaves the Group under certain leaving conditions.
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Option type

Type A

Type B

Option vesting date

2nd anniversary of Grant Date

4th anniversary of Grant Date

Number

6948

6948

Strike 
price

CHF

568

595

29. Subsequent events
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30. Principal Group companies
on 31 December 1999

Switzerland

Geberit AG, Jona

Geberit Holding AG, Jona

Geberit International AG, Jona

Geberit Technik AG, Jona

Geberit Verwaltungs AG, Jona

Geberit Vertriebs AG, Jona

Geberit Marketing e Distribuzione SA, Jona

Geberit Produktions AG, Jona

Balena DoucheWC AG, Bütschwil

Büchler Werkzeugbau AG, Flawil

FAE Fluid Air Energy SA, Givisiez

Austria

Geberit Vertriebs GmbH, Pottenbrunn

Geberit Produktions GmbH, Pottenbrunn

Sanplast Handels GmbH, Villach

Belgium

Geberit N.V., Machelen

China

Geberit Flushing Technology Co. Ltd., Daishan

Geberit Plumbing Technology Co. Ltd., Shanghai

Czech Republic

Geberit spol.s.r.o., Brno

Denmark

Geberit A/S, Lystrup

France

Geberit S.à.r.l., Antony

Hansgrohe Geberit S.A.S., Antony

Germany

Geberit Verwaltungs GmbH, Pfullendorf

Geberit GmbH, Pfullendorf

Geberit Produktions GmbH, Pfullendorf

Pretec Sanitär- und Bauelemente Vertrieb GmbH, Lichtenstein

Pretec Sanitärtechnik Produktions GmbH, Lichtenstein

Sanbloc GmbH, Weilheim

Gemax Gebäudetechnik GmbH, Kassel

Currency

CHF

CHF

CHF

CHF

CHF

CHF

CHF

CHF

CHF

CHF

CHF

EUR

EUR

ATS

EUR

CNY

CNY

CZK

DKK

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR 

Share 
capital in

thousands

83 200

39 350

1 000

1 000

1 000

1 000

1 000

4 000

300

3 000

7 000

727

7 994

1 000

62

40 901

41 426

6 000

6 000

936

300

102

1 023

7 669

511

1 023

1 023

1 023

Owner
ship
in %

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

70

100

100

100

100

100

81

100

100

100

50

100

99.5

99.5

100

99.5

99.5

51

Activity

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�

� /�
� /�

�

�

�
�

�
�
�
�
�
� 

� /�

-
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Great Britain

Geberit Terrain Ltd., Aylesford

Geberit Ltd., Aylesford

Hungary

Geberit kft, Budapest

Italy

Deriplast S.p.a., Villadose

Plastek S.r.l., Villadose

Luxembourg

Prosan GmbH, Mertert

Netherlands

Geberit Holding B.V., Nieuwegein

Geberit B.V., Nieuwegein

Mutra Investments B.V., Nieuwegein

Poland

Geberit Sp.z.o.o., Warsaw

Portugal

Afluxo S.A., Lisbon

Singapore

Geberit South East Asia Pte. Ltd., Singapore

Slovakia

Geberit spol s.r.o., Bratislava

Slovenia

Prosan d.o.o., Rusé

Spain

Geberit S.A., Barcelona

USA

Geberit Manufacturing Inc., Michigan

Currency

GBP

GBP

HUF

ITL

ITL

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

PLN

PTE

SGD

SKK

SIT

ESP

USD

Share
capital in

thousands

346

12 308

13 750

8 000 000

90 000

263

136

18

32

3 000

55 000

100

3 000

1 500

26 432

5 515

Owner
ship
in %

100

100

100

100

70

100

100

100

100

100

51

100

100

100

100

100

Activity

� /�
�

�

� /�
�

�

�
�
�

�

�

�

�

� /�

�

� /�

� Services, holding functions

� Distribution

� Production

-
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Report of the Group Auditors

To the General Meeting of Geberit AG, Jona

As auditors of the Group, we have audited the consolidated financial
statements (balance sheet, income statement, statement of shareholders’
equity, statement of cash flows and notes, page 38 to 73) of the Geberit
Group for the year ended 31 December 1999. 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board
of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consoli-
dated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the
legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promul-
gated by the profession and with the International Standards on Auditing
issued by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), which require
that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. We 
have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates
made and the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows
in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and
comply with the law and the accounting provisions as contained in the
Listing Rules of the Swiss Exchange.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to
you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Amity S. Forrest Daniel Ketterer

Zurich, Switzerland, 15 March, 2000
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Financial Statements

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net:

– Third parties

– Group companies

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Financial assets:

– Investments

– Loans to group companies

– Treasury shares

Intangible assets: incorporation, capital increase and organisation costs

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Capital stock

Legal reserves:

– General reserve

– Reserve for own shares

Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Income

Dividends from subsidiaries

Financial income

Total income

Expenses 

Administrative expenses

Financial expenses

Taxes

Total expenses

Net income

Balance Sheet

Income
Statement

2.0

14.0

42.5

58.5

335.3

155.9

2.5

15.9

509.6

568.1

0.6

83.2

440.3

2.5

41.5

567.5

568.1

26.4. to
31.12.1999

MCHF

40.0

4.3

44.3

2.5

0.1

0.2

2.8

41.5

31.12.1999

MCHF
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Guarantees, other indemnities and assets pledged in favor of third parties

Significant investments
Reference to Note 30, Geberit Group.

Share capital
The share capital of Geberit AG consists of 4,160,000 shares with a par
value of CHF 20 each.

Treasury shares

Capital increases

The extraordinary general shareholders meeting of Geberit AG, held on 
21 June 1999, resolved to increase the share capital of Geberit AG by 
conditional capital in the amount of  up to 3,328,000 divided into up to
166,400 shares of par value CHF 20 each. As per 31 December 1999 
no additional shares have been issued in connection with this conditional
capital increase.

1. Notes in accordance with
Article 663b of the 
Swiss Code of Obligations

Notes to the Financial Statements

77

Guarantee Deutsche Bank Term A, B, C

31.12.1999

MCHF

630.8

Treasury shares

31.12.1999

MCHF

2.5

Conditional capital

31.12.1999

MCHF

3.3

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Balance at 26 April 1999

Purchases

Sales

Exercise of options

Exchange of shares

Balance at 31 December 1999

Number of own shares included therein held by com-
panies in which Geberit AG holds a majority interest 

26 April 1999

31 December 1999

Average

492.74

412.20

494.92

High

495.61

457.00

Number of
registered

shares 

0

5088

67

5021

0

0

Low

330.00

353.50

Price in CHF
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Geberit AG was incorporated on 26 April 1999. No comparative information
is available. Refer to Note 19, Geberit Group.

Significant shareholders
According to the information available to the board of directors the follow-
ing shareholders held shares entitling them to more than 5% of the total
voting rights:

Proposal by the board of directors to the general meeting

2. Other disclosures 
required by the law

Proposal for the appropriation 
of available earnings

Doughty Hanson Partnerships and Co-Investors

Klaus Gebert Heirs

15.66%

8.23%

2.1

2.2

Available earnings

Net income for the period

Retained earnings brought forward from previous period

Total available earnings

Allocation of additional capital paid-in

Transfer to legal reserve (20% of share capital)

Transfer to free reserve

Total allocation of additional capital paid-in

Appropriation of available earnings

Dividend on registered shares (CHF 8.00 per share)

Retained earnings to be carried forward

Total appropriation of available earnings

Own shares will not be entitled to dividends.

1999

CHF

41,471,834

0

41,471,834

16,640,000

423,611,334

440,251,334

33,280,0001

8,191,834

41,471,834

1
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Report of the Statutory Auditors

To the general meeting of Geberit AG, Jona

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and 
the first financial statement (balance sheet, income statement and notes) 
of Geberit AG for the period 26 April 1999 to 31 December 1999.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements con-
cerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promul-
gated by the profession, which require that an audit be planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined 
on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles
used, significant estimates made and the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the
proposed appropriation of available earnings comply with the law and the
company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be
approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Lorenz Lipp Daniel Ketterer

Zurich, Switzerland, 15 March 2000
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This annual report is published 
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